M.Sc. Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

----

# THE ROLE OF HOMOCYTOTROPIC ANTIBODIES IN A MODEL OF INFLAMMATORY JOINT DISEASE

by



Cecilia Maria Dias B.Sc.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Department of Microbiology and Immunology

McGill University

September, 1988.

Montreal

#### ABSTRACT

Rheumatoid arthritis is a chronic inflammatory joint disease marked by exacerbations of more severe inflammation that resemble hypersensitivity reactions. A rat model of passive synovial anaphylaxis (PSA) was developed to examine nomocytotropic antibody activity in synovial inflammation. This technique involves passively sensitizing rat knee joints with IgE, cnallenging intravenously with corresponding antigen, and monitoring for signs of inflammation. The PSA reaction was successfully induced with ovalbumin and pertussis as antigens. Histological studies and radioisotopic joint scars provided evidence of synovial mast cell degranulation and tissue edema concurrent with the measurable PSA induced joint swelling. Tne PSA joint inflammation correlated directly with the amount of antigen specific IgE in sensitizing serum, was partly inhibited by antihistamine pretreatment, and could still be elicited 36 days after sensitization. Under certain conditions, the PSA reaction modified collagen II and adjuvant induced joint inflammation, and was in turn modified by the underlying synovitis.

i

RÉSUMÉ

La polyarthrite rhumatoide est une maladie inflammatoire chronique affectant les articulations, où l'on remarque des exacerbations inflammatoures plus sévères ressemblant à des réactions d'hypersenibilité. Un modèle d'anaphylaxie synoviale passive (ASP) chez le rat fût développé afin d'examiner l'activité d'anticorps homocytotropiques dans l'inflammation synoviale. Cette technique consiste à sensibiliser passivement les articulations du genou des rats avec de l'Igã, stimuler par voie intraveineuse avec l'antigène correspondant, et enfin de surveiller pour la présence de signes inflammacoires produits. La réaction d'ASP fût induite avec succès utilisant l'ovalbumine et le pertussis comme antigènes. Concomitant au gonflement articulaire mesurable induite par l'ASP, les études histologiques et les scintigraphies articulares témoignaient de la dégranulation des mastocytes synoviales et de l'édême tissulaire. L'inflammation d'ASP était en corrélation direct avec la quantité d'IgE spécifiques aux antigènes dans le sérum provocateur, était partiellement inhibée par un prétraitment antihistaminique et pouvait encore être elicitée 36 heures après la sensibilisation. Sous certaines conditions, la réaction d'ASP pouvait modifier l'inflammation induite par le collagène II et l'adjuvant, et elle même pouvait être modifiée par une synovite sous jacente.

ii

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. C.K. Osterland for his guidance and encouragement throughout the course of this study and preparation of the manuscript.

A special thanks is extended to Dr H. Bazin for supplying the monoclonal mouse anti-rat IgE, and goat anti-rat IgE antisera used in the ELISA assays.

Dr. R. Lisbona and the technical staff of the Division of Nuclear Medicine at the Royal Victoria Hospital deserve credit for guidance in preparing the rat joint scans.

I am also grateful to the staff of the Histology Laboratory of the Royal Victoria Hospital for their expert instruct'on of tissue processing and staining techniques, and the use of their equipment.

My sincerest gratitude goes out to all those special friends whose steady support and encouragement made this thesis possible.

This project was financed by the Arthritis Society, and conducted at the Harry Webster Thorp Laboratories, Division of Clinical Immunology, Royal Victoria Hospital.

iii

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE	
	TITLE		
	ABSTRACT	i &	ii
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii	
CHAPTER 1	INTRODUCTION	1	
CHAPTER 2	HISTORICAL REVIEW	4	
2.1	Pathology of Rheumatoid Arthritis	4	
2.2	Mast Cell Characteristics	7	
2.2.1	Mast Cells in Hypersensitivity Reactions	9	
2.2.2	Mast Cell Mediators in Inflammatory Reactions.	11	
2.2.2.1	Immunomodulation by Histamine	12	
2.2.2.2	Immunomodulation by Secondary Mediators	13	
2.2.3	Mast Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis	14	
2.2.3.1	Mast Cell Mediators in Rheumatoid Pathology	18	
2.3	Proteclytic Enzymes in Rheumatoid Pathology	20	
2.3.1	Mast Cell Proteolytic Enzymes	21	
2.3.2	Collagenase	22	
2.4	IgE Autoantibodies in Rheumatoid Arthritis	23	
2.4.1	Atopy and Rheumatoid Arthritis	23	
2.4.2	IgE Rheumatoid Factors	26	
2.4.3	IgE Antinuclear Antibodies	27	
2.4.4	Immune Complexes Containing IgE	29	
2.5	Anti-IgE Antibodies	30	
2.6	Goal of Research	32	
CHAPTER 3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	33	
3.1	Homocytotropic Antibody Production	33	

<del>م</del> خة

4.2

C

€.

-----

3.2	ELISA Procedure	34
3.2.1	Total Sørum IgE Measurements	35
3.2.2	Antigen Specific IgE Measurements	36
3.2.3	Antigen Specific IgG Measurements	37
3.3	Passive Synovial Anaphylaxis (PSA) Reaction	37
3.3.1	Sensitization of Lewis Rat Joints	37
3.3.2	Antigen Challenge	38
3.3.3	Assessment of Joint Inflammation	39
3.4	Pharmacological Modification of PSA	40
3.5	Induction of Adjuvant Arthritis	40
3.6	Induction of Collagen-II Arthritis	41
3.7	Histologıcal Studies	42
3.7.1	Tissue Preparation	42
3.7.2	Tissue Staining for Mast Cells	42
3.8	Statistical Analysis	43
CHAPTER 4	RESULTS	46
4.1	IgE Response to Immunizing Antigens	46
4.2	The PSA Reaction	48
4.2.1	Time Course of the PSA Reaction	48
4.2.2	Correlation Between IgE and Inflammation	49
4.2.3	Histological Evidence of the PSA Reaction	50
4.2.4	Radioisotopic Joint Scans	51
4.2.5	Pharmacological Modification of PSA	52
4.2.6	Duration of the Sensitization	52
4.3	Effect of PSA on Collagen-II Arthritis	52

TABLE OF C	CONTENTS (cont'd)	PAGE
4.4	Effect of PSA on Adjuvant Arthritis	. 54
CHAPTER 5	DISCUSSION	. 84
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	. 93

\* \*

77\*\* 148\*\*Dx63\*\*\*\* \* \* \* \*

C

Ł

,

l.

ſ

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	#	TITLE	PAGE
1.1		Chemical Mediators of Immediate Hypersensitivity.	, 3
4.1		Summary of IgG and IgE Antibody Responses to Various Immunizing Antigens	, 57
4.2		Correlation Between Ovalbumin-specific IgE Ratios and PSA Responses at Different Challenge Times	, 58
4.3		Correlation Between Pertussis-specific IgE Ratios and PSA Responses at Different Challenge Times	59
4.4		Correlation Between Ovalbumin-specific IgE Ratios and PSA-induced Mast Cell Degranulation	60
4.5		<sup>99</sup> Technetium Accumulation in the Joints Following PSA Reactions	1 61
4.6		Effect of Intraarticular Antihistamines on the PSA Reaction	62

---

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE #	TITLE	PAGE
3.1	Standard Curve for Monoclonal IgE	. 44
3.2	Standard Curve for Rat Serum IgE	. 45
4.1	The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis	. 63
4.2	The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Ovalbumin	. 64
4.3	The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Human IgG	• 65
4.4	The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Human Collagen-II	. 66
4.5	The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Rat Collagen-II	. 67
4.6	The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Muramyl Dipeptide	. 68
4.7	Time Course of the PSA Response	. 69
4.8	Correlation between Ovalbumin-specific IgE and PSA-induced Joint Swelling	. 70
4.9	Correlation between Pertussis-specific IgE and PSA-induced Joint Swelling	. 71
4.10	Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Mast Cells in Normal Synovium	<b>1</b> • 72
4.11	Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Mast Cells in PSA-reactive Synovium	• 73
4.12	FITC-avidin Staining of Synovial Mast Cells in Normal Synovium	• 74
4.13	<sup>99</sup> Technetium Scanning of Rat Knee Joints	. 75
4.14	Duration of Sensitization	. 76
4.15	Effect of Simultaneous Collagen-II Arthritis and PSA Reactions on Joint Swelling	. 77

-

ļ

ar all that an afficiant of the second states of

e.

and the start of the second start of the second start of

C

(

C

FIGURE #	TITLE	PAGE
4.16	Effect of PSA Reactions on Pre-existing Collagen-II Arthritis	. 78
4.17	Effect of Simultaneous Adjuvant Arthritis and PSA Reactions on Joint Swelling	. 79
4.18	Effect of PSA Reactions on Pre-existing Adjuvant Arthritis	. 80
4.19	Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Synovial Tissue from a Rat with Collagen-II Arthritis	. 81
4.20	Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Synovial Tissue from a Rat with Collagen-II Arthritis, Following a PSA Reaction	. 82
4.21	Ankle Swelling Response Following PSA-induction in the Knee Joint	. 83

#### CHAPTER 1--INTRODUCTION

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the articular joints. The clinical course of the disease varies from patient to patient, and is marked by spontaneous Much of the research into the remissions and exacerbations. etiology of RA has concentrated on the immunologic abnormalities prevalent within the inflamed synovium: active cellular and humoral immune responses, local production of autoantibodies, and the accumulation of immune complexes within the joint tissues. The experimental animal models of rheumatoid arthritis currently used in research can effectively reproduce many of the pathologic characteristics of human disease. However, no single model available encompasses all of the varying immunologic reactions that persist and escalate into the destructive inflammatory process of rheumatoid synovitis.

There have been numerous accounts of allergic reactions exacerbating rheumatoid symptoms (1), and even the suggestion that an allergic mechanism might be the cause of certain arthritides (2,3). The involvement of allergic mechanisms in chronic arthritis is supported by the detection of increased mast cell numbers in inflamed synovial tissues (4). Reports of elevations in serum and synovial fluid IgE in RA patients (5) provides additional evidence for the possible occurence of hypersensitivity reactions in the joint.

Considering the extensive synovial vascularity, an increase in local permeability during inflammatory responses in the joint

14

facilitate membrane perfusion with circulating IgE, and can contribute to sensitization of synovial mast cells. After synovial mast cells are sensitized with IgE, any subsequent corresponding antigen contact with can trigger а local hypersensitivity reaction. The allergic reaction is itself proinflammatory, and is capable of enhancing immune complex deposition and contributing to the on-going joint inflammation.

Activated tissue mast cells release preformed vasoactive amines such as histamine and heparin that can result in tissue edema and promote infiltration of inflammatory cells. Mast cell mediators, both the preformed mediators and the newly-synthesized leukotrienes and prostaglandins, possess immunomodulating properties (see Table 1.1). These regulatory effects of mast cell products suggest a pivotal role for the activity of synovial mast cells in joint inflammatory reactions (6,7).

This thesis describes data on a novel model of induction of joint inflammation in rats. A local allergic reaction is provoked in joints by a technique called passive synovial anaphylaxis (PSA). This involves passively sensitizing rat joints with serum containing antigen-specific IgE. The rats are challenged intravenously with the corresponding antigen, and their joints are monitored for signs of swelling or inflammation. This model is then used to study the contribution of hypersensitivity reactions to other standard models of arthritis, such as collagen type II and adjuvant-induced arthritis in rats.

## TABLE 1.1 Chemical Mediators of Immediate Hypersensitivity

3

	mediader	FUNCTION
Primary (preformed granule- associated) mediators	Histamine	Increases vascular permeability Elevation of cyclic-AMP Chemokinesis Induces T-suppressor functions Decreases T-cytotoxic and T- helper functions Inhibits immunoglobulin synthesis Activates collagenase Activates chondrocytes Decreases fibroblast synthesis of glycosaminoglycan
	Serotonin	Increases vascular permeability Activates collagenase
	Heparin proteoglycan	Anti-coagulant, anti-complement activity Angiogenesis
	Eosinophil chemotactic factor (ECF)	Eosinophil and neutrophil chemotaxis
	Neutrophil chemotactic factor (NCF)	Neutrophil chemotaxis
	Tryptase	Proteolysis Cleavage of C3 to C3a
	Chymase	Proteolysis
Secondary (unstored) mediators	Slow reacting substance of anaphylaxis (Leukotrienes C4, D4, E4)	Increases vascular permeability Contraction of human bronchioles
	Platelet activating factors (PAF)	Aggregation of platelets Induces serotonin release from platelets
	Leukotriene-B4	Eosinophil and neutrophil chemotaxis
	Prostaglandins D4 and E4	Vascdilation

~} ~~

هيه

#### CHAPTER 2--HISTORICAL REVIEW

4

## 2.1 PATHOLOGY OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Rheumatoid arthritis is manifested by the activation of a variety of immunologic reactions that contribute to the chronic inflammatory responses in affected joints. Although no single etiological factor has been identified, there is evidence of both cellular (8,9,10) and humoral (11) immune responses, some of which are auto-reactive in nature, occurring within the inflamed synovium. Surface immunoglobulin positive cells and plasma cells capable of local antibody production have been identified in rheumatoid synovium (12, 13).Inclusions containing immunoglobulin and complement are detectable in polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) isolated from the synovial fluids (12,14) of RA patients. These pathologic changes are consistent with a local activation of the immune system in RA.

Autoimmunity to collagen type II is of particular importance to the pathology of RA (15-18). Collagen, which is the major structural component of joint cartilage, is enzymatically degraded in actively inflamed joints. Both cellmediated (15) and antibody responses to collagen type II have been described in the sera (16) and synovial fluids (17,18) of RA patients. The immune reactivity is predominantly directed against denatured as opposed to native determinants of type II collagen. Furthermore, human anti-collagen cellular immunity is significantly associated with HLA-DR4 (P=0.03) (18), the same haplotype that is most strongly associated with RA (19). This

suggests a genetic predisposition for individuals bearing this haplotype to mount an immune response to collagen type II. In fact, individuals with the HLA-DR4 haplotype appear to have a 6 fold greater risk (20) of developing RA than individuals of different haplotypes.

The production of anti-IgG antibodies, or rheumatoid factors (RFs), has also been linked to HLA-DR4 (21). This provides a possible genetic cause for the clinical distinction between seropositive and seronegative RA. It may be significant that the same individuals genetically predisposed to anticollagen-II and anti-IgG autoimmunity have a greater risk of developing RA than those lacking the HLA-DR4 haplotype, these being two of the major autoantibody specificities observed in RA patients.

Other auto-reactive antibody activities observed in RA patient sera include anti-lymphocyte (22), anti-IgG (rheumatoid factors) identified in sera and synovial fluids (23-25), and anti-nuclear antibodies (26,27). Autoantibodies of these specificities may participate in immune complex (IC) formation upon binding the corresponding antigen located either within the circulation or within an accessible joint. Deposition or local formation of ICs in the joints can subsequently lead to acute synovitis (28,29) and vasculitis (30), which are common pathological features of RA.

There is evidence for the presence of ICs both in the sera (24) and synovial fluids (25) of RA patients. Complement

activation by these ICs is substantiated by a significant consumption of complement in RA patients with circulating ICs (25, 31, 32). Complement activation products include chemoattractants for PMNs, which engulf the complexes and at the same time, release proteolytic enzymes that contribute to the destruction of surrounding tissue (33). Complement activation also produces C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins that may cause tissue degranulate and thereby produce mast cells to а local hypersensitivity reaction. The liberation of vasoactive amines mast cells results in increased local from blood vessel Vasodilation facilitates permeability. the influx of and IC deposition inflammatory cells further (34), thus amplifying the existing immunological reactions and creating the self-perpetuating cycle of inflammatory processes characteristic of RA.

Exposed epitopes on ICs may undergo proteolytic modifications. This may promote further auto-sensitization and production of antibodies against new IgG epitopes. Rheumatoid factors are autoantibodies capable of IC formation as well as increasing the mass of existing complexes to a precipitable size (34), thus contributing to the tissue deposition and destructive synovitis (28-30).

During the later stages of progressive RA, a hyperplastic growth of the inflammatory and synovial lining cells (pannus) invades the adjacent cartilage, causing extensive destruction and remodelling of cartilage and bone (33). Fibrin deposition in

the tissues (36), granuloma formation and fibrosis are also prominent in well established disease.

7

The initial stimulus for the ensuing rheumatoid inflammation remains unknown, yet it is the chronicity and repeated exacerbations (2) that are characteristic of continuing disease. Some patients experience episodes of acute-onset inflammation that resemble the course primarily associated with hypersensitivity reactions, and suggest the possibility of IgE and mast cell involvement in the flare-up (3).

Recently published reports have emphasized the importance of mast cells as potential regulators of inflammatory reactions (6,7,37). The diverse functional array of mast cell mediators suggests that the cell could contribute to bouch immediate and more chronic phases of inflammation. Consequently, the potential role of the mast cell in rheumatoid inflammation has been recently recognized and is actively being investigated.

#### 2.2 MAST CELL CHARACTERISTICS

Significant differences have been observed between the circulating basophils and tissue mast cell populations (38). There is also extensive heterogeneity within the tissue-bound cell population itself (39). The mucosal type mast cell is distinguished from the connective tissue type by its differing staining properties (40), functional responses to histamine liberating drugs (41), morphological characteristics (39,42), and even surface antigenic determinants (43).

4.7

The various rat mast cell populations differ in the type of neutral proteases found within the storage granules. Mucosal mast cells and basophils contain a type-II rat mast cell protease (RMCP), while connective tissue mast cells contain type-I RMCP These mast cell serine proteases have similar enzyme (40). specificities, but different morecular weights (40). Mast cell subtypes also differ in their synthesis of proteoglycans chondroitin mucosal mast cells produce only sulfate-E proteoglycan and connective tissue mast cells produce the proteoglycan heparin (44). The levels of histamine released upon cellular activation also vary among the mast cell subtypes. Connective tissue mast cells contain fold а 10 higher concentration of histamine than do the mucosal mast cells (45).

The last strate was and a star

Although mast cells demonstrate different histochemical phenotypes depending on their tissue of origin, the persistent influence of environmental factors is important in maintaining these phenotypes (46). Mucosal mast cells may be stimulated to express the connective tissue phenotype when they are co-cultured with connective tissue fibroblast cells. This phenotypic change is followed histochemically by a shift from granules containing chondroitin sulfate which do not stain with safranin-0, to granules containing heparin which stain with safranin-0 (46). This evidence suggests the importance of the microenvironment in determining mast cell phenotypes, and may account for the great heterogeneity observed between cells of differing tissue source and location (41). It is also indicative of the importance of

the microenvironment in the final differentiation and maturation of mast cells after their migration from the bone marrow pool of precursor cells (39,42).

#### 2.2.1 MAST CELLS IN HYPERSENSITIVITY REACTIONS

IgE mediated mast cell degranulation is responsible for the immediate hypersensitivity responses that occur in allergic individuals. Genetically predisposed individuals (47), respond to particular antigens (allergens) with an immune response which includes antigen-specific antibodies of the IgE immunoglobulin class. The circulating IgE has a short half life (2 to 3 days), due in part to its high susceptibility to proteolysis, and its high-affinity binding via the Fc portion of the epsilon heavy chain to specific receptors located on the surface of basophils or tissue fixed mast cells.

cross-linking of 2 adjacent receptor-bound The IqE molecules by corresponding divalent antigen will activate the mast cell and bring about release of its storage granules. Preformed mediators including vasodilatory amines such as histamine (and serotonin in rat mast cells); chemotactic factors for eosinophils, neutrophils, and T- and B-lymphocytes (48); anticoagulant heparin; and proteolytic enzymes such as chymase, and arylsulfatase-A are all released. tryptase, Normal termination of local effects of these compounds is achieved by rhagocytosis inactivation of direct and the granules by eosinophils or neutrophils (81).

492

Activation of surface receptors results in the mobilization of arachidonic acid from membrane phospholipids by the action of phospholipase-A2. In mast cells, arachidonic acid is metabolized via cyclooxygenase pathway to produce predominantly the prostaglandin-D2 (PGD2) (49), a potent vasodilator, along with low levels of prostaglandin-E2 (50). Alternately, metabolism of arachidonic acid by the lipoxygenase pathway results in the production of biologically active leukotrienes (51). These include the chemoattractant leukotriene-B4 (LTB4), and the slow reacting substances of anaphylaxis (leukotriene-C4, -D4, -E4), which are 100 times more potent than histamine at enhancing vascular permeability while at the same time causing contraction of smooth muscle in the bronchioles. Another newly-synthesized mediator released from mast cells is the platelet activating factor (PAF), which can induce serotonin release from platelets and is itself a potent vasodilator. (See Table 1.1.)

19

All of these newly-formed mediators, acting in synergy with heparin and histamine, contribute to the immediate hypersensitivity response seen in allergic individuals. The immediate response is characterized by local tissue edema, redness and itchiness, bronchoconstriction, and dilatation of peripheral blood vessels.

Although mast cell degranulation is primarily associated with allergic mechanisms induced by the interaction of receptorbound IgE with specific antigen, the presence of IgE is not an absolute requirement. Other stimuli such as antibodies to the

receptor (52), C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins (53), and IqE lymphokines (54) also demonstrate histamine releasing activity. Hormone-like peptides such as substance-P and gastrin (55) are also capable of directly producing mast cell degranulation. Thus autoantibodies with specificity for IgE or the IgE-receptor, Tlymphocyte activation with the elaboration of histamine releasing activity (54), and anaphylatoxin production following complement activation can all induce the release of mediators of immediate hypersensitivity reactions. The joint pain associated with RA can itself lead to local hyperproduction of substance-P, a neurotransmitter involved in the transduction of pain perceptions from the periphery (56). Consequently, high concentrations of this neurotransmitter in painful rheumatoid joints may trigger cell degranulation (55) and contribute to local mast the prolongation of inflammation.

## 2.2.2 MAST CELLS IN INFLAMMATORY REACTIONS

Immunologically induced inflammatory reactions are an important part of the host response to foreign substances such as microbial organisms. However, inflammation may lead to host tissue damage if it is repeatedly induced as part of an allergic response, or part of an autoimmune response resulting from improper regulation of the immune system. Cells capable of regulating an inflammatory response are therefore of considerable importance. The location of mast cells at potential sites of foreign artigen entry into the body, such as the sub-mucosal and

sub-cutaneous connective tissues surrounding blood vessels, suggests a functional role for these cells in the primary immunologic reactions mounted against the intruding foreign material. The ability of some mast cell mediators to recruit and/or regulate other cellular immune functions further suggests a physiologically important role for the mast cell in local homeostasis during immune and inflammatory responses (6,7,37).

#### 2.2.2.1 IMMUNOMODULATION BY HISTAMINE

Histamine has the ability to regulate the activity of immune cells by binding to either of two specific surface receptors designated as H1 or H2 receptors (57). H2 receptor activation induces intracellular cyclic-AMP levels in both PMN and lymphocytic cells, and cyclic-AMP is the secondary messenger that directs further biological changes within the target cells.

Exogenous histamine does not appear to have any effect on human lung mast cell secretory functions. However, histamine activation of H2 receptors on human basophils and skin mast cells results in a suppression of further histamine release (58). By stimulating H1 receptors and inducing cyclic-GMP, histamine also increases the number of cell-surface receptors for C3b and C4 complement components and induces the chemotaxis of eosinophils. Histamine stimulation of neutrophil H2 receptors causes decreases in chemotaxis, lysosomal enzyme release, and production of superoxide anion and peroxide within these cells (59).

Histamine also has the capacity to regulate lymphocyte activity by binding to surface H2 receptors. Exogenous histamine suppresses both T-cell (60) and natural killer cell mediated cytotoxicity in the mouse, and has an overall inhibitory effect on human lymphocyte activity. It decreases human T-helper lymphokine production and the surface expression of Ia/Dr Histamine also stimulates suppressor T-lymphocyte antigens. activity, and inhibits immunoqlobulin production by Blymphocytes (57). Thus allergic mediators such as histamine can be shown to have a variety of effects on local immunologic and inflammatory reactions.

#### 2.2.2 IMMUNOMODULATION BY SECONDARY MEDIATORS

Prostaglandins and leukotrienes are newly-synthesized mast cell mediators that also exhibit immunoregulatory properties. Prostaglandin-E2 (PGE2) enhances the rate and degree of PMN infiltration, and can stimulate IgG synthesis by B-lymphocytes (61). Some of the pain associated with inflammation can also be induced experimentally by PGE2, histamine, and arachidonic acid, all of which are released by the mast cell (62). Modulation of inflammation by leukotrienes is exemplified by the ability of leukotriene-B4 to increase PMN chemotaxis (63).

Consequently, mast cells can increase PMN and lymphocyte activity in response to prostaglandins and leukotrienes, and simultaneously down-regulate their activity in response to histamine. While it may be desirable to stimulate immune cells

locally to accelerate the clearance of foreign organisms, the balance between stimulatory and inhibitory effects must be maintained to prevent excessive amplification of the inflammatory response. Therefore local secretion of mast cell mediators may be important in the modulation of tissue inflammation. The duration of the stimulus and the degree of mast cell degranulation can thus be a determinant of the severity of the inflammation.

## 2.2.3 MAST CELLS IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Mast cells have been recognized as cellular components of normal synovial tissue since 1960 when Castor determined that mast cells make up 3% of the total cell population (64). Only recently has research provided significant evidence for the direct involvement of mast cells in rheumatoid synovitis (89).

Smyth and Gum (65) were one of the first groups to suggest the need to investigate the function of mast cells in the synovium because of their distribution in perivescular regions, areas widely affected in rheumatoid inflammatory synovitis. Subsequent histological examinations of rheumatoid synovium (66-68) have noted the presence of increased numbers of mast cells, but their role in inflammation was not directly addressed. The studies mainly concerned with were the variap\_lity of infiltrating cell types observed in established rheumatoid synovitis, concentrating mainly on the contribution of lymphocytes and PMNs to inflammation.

The importance of mast cell involvement in experimental synovitis was reassessed following the results of Gryfe and coworkers (69). They demonstrated that the mast cell was the first cell type to increase in the synovium during the development of experimental rat adjuvant arthritis. Previous studies of synovia from animals and humans with already well established disease, had not addressed the time course or sequence of cellular infiltrations in the development of RA. In the adjuvant model of RA, mast cell numbers were found to increase with the development of synovitis (69). The initial increase peaked after 6 days, and was followed by evidence of steady mast cell degranulation until very few granulated cells remained by day 12. The number of granulated mast cells observed at any point in time was inversely proportional to the edema in the tissue. Also, as mast cell numbers decreased, the number of infiltrating polymorphs increased with the progression of synovitis. This implies an active participation of mast cells in the early phase of rheumatoid inflammation. By increasing vascular permeability, mast cell degranulation can account for the observed tissue edema as well as the inflammatory cell infiltration of tissue in response to chemoattractants.

Gryfe's results have subsequently been corroborated by human studies demonstrating that the degree of lymphocyte infiltration into synovial tissue correlates both with tissue histamine levels (70), as yell as with total mast cell numbers (71). Since mast cells also release chemoattractants for PMNs, degranulation may

\*\*

contribute to cellular accumulation in the tissue. One can also conclude from these results that the degree of cellular turnover at the site of inflammation is dependent upon the extent of mast cell activity. Thus cellular turnover may account for the high variablity in cell types found between individual tissue samples (72).

Rapid cellular turnover during the progression of inflammation has been demonstrated by more recent investigations. Synovial tissue obtained during the early onset phase of arthritis or active synovitis contain increased concentrations of mast cells (73). On the other hand, tissue taken from patients with end-stage disease, which is characterized by extensive bone destruction and no synovitis, contains predominantly macrophages and fibroblasts (72) but few detectable mast cells (74). Since mast cells can only be positively identified histochemically by the presence of metachromatically staining cytoplasmic granules, degranulation could render mast cells indistinguishable from other cell types and falsely lower the mast cell count. Due to the lack of evidence for mast cell death during inflammatory responses, the apparent decrease in mast cell numbers late in rheumatoid inflammation attributed has been to cellular degranulation rather than an actual loss of viable cells. However, this point needs further clarification.

The participation of mast cells in bone metabolism has also been established. Increased mast cell numbers are found at sites of active bone degeneration (75), as well as in areas of bone

surgery (76) and in osteoporosis (77). The recent discovery that mast cell histamine (90) and PGE2 (91) can activate chondrocytes implies that these mediators might stimulate cartilage resorption.

A negative correlation between stainable mast cell numbers and fibrin deposition in tissues, which is a characteristic of late stages of arthritis, has been demonstrated (71). Thus while mast cell participation in arthritic synovitis occurs during the early flare-up reaction, chronic release of its mediators contributes to the pathologic features of rheumatoid disease of longer duration.

Some investigators have recently demonstrated a significant accumulation of mast cells within the site of pannus formation in inflamed synovial tissue of RA (4,71,72,73,75), juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and other rheumatic diseases (73). No similar increase in mast cells was found in other forms of arthritis such as osteoarthritis (77), in which immunological processes are not believed to play an important etiological role.

Increased rheumatoid synovial mast cell counts have then found to correlate positively with the severity of the synovitis (4). Furthermore, the identification of mast cells in synovial fluids (78,79) reflects extensive tissue destruction in the inflamed joints, and suggests that the number of mast cells in synovial fluids could serve as a useful index of disease activity and severity.

## 2.2.3.1 MAST CELL MEDIATORS IN RHEUMATOID PATHOLOGY

Mast cell degranulation can not only cause acute hypersensitivity symptoms, but the preformed mediators alone (ie. without contributions from the secondary mediators) are also capable of inducing a prolonged inflammatory response (80). The effects of mast cell mediator release are normally terminated via phagocytosis of the granules by neutrophils and eosinophils (81). Therefore, the observed phagocytosis and degradation of mast cell granules by connective tissue fibroblasts (82) may be an adaptive method for down-regulating the proinflammatory effects of mast cell granules in these tissues. It has been observed that 24 to 48 hours following mast cell granule ingestion, fibroblasts begin to secrete elevated levels of collagenase (82). This induction of collagenase production may be relevant to rheumatoid cartilage destruction since this enzyme can specifically degrade collagen type II, a structural protein in articular joints.

Since the mast cell is the major source of histamine, elevations in the urinary excretion of histamine's major metabolite, 1-methyl-4-imidazole-acetic acid (83), suggest a significant activation of mast cells in non-allergic RA patients. This is also implied by the work of Permin and coworkers (84) demonstrating that half of the 12 RA patients treated with H1 and H2 antihistamines showed improvement in clinical symptoms.

The injection of test animals with high doses of histamine (ie. daily injections of 5 mg/kg body weight) has been shown to decrease the synthesis of glycosaminoglycan (GAG) and collagen

(85) by fibroblasts. Histamine may also be involved in the activation of PMN leukocyte collagenase (86). Thus high local concentrations of histamine in the joint would tend to inhibit tissue repair which requires increased collagen and GAG synthesis (87), and at the same time, promote collagen breakdown. In contrast to the effects of high doses of histamine, low doses stimulate fibroblast growth (88), thus increasing the source of collagen and GAG. Chronic overproduction of collagen may lead to abnormal fibrosis, frequently associated with elevated mast cell Therefore, depending upon the concentration of numbers (89). histamine released, synovial mast cell activation may either promote connective tissue repair or contribute to the degradation of collagenous tissues.

Taylor (90) has shown the presence of histamine H2 receptors on human articular cartilage chondrocytes that can be stimulated with low doses of histamine to increase intracellular cyclic-AMP levels. PGE2 is also capable of stimulating adenylate cyclase in human chondrocytes (91). Since measurable quantities of histamine are found in the synovial fluid of rheumatoid joints (79), and PGE2 is usually present in diseased joints (92), both of these mast cell mediators may >e involved in chondrocyte activation and hence be responsible for some of the erosive changes seen in RA.

Mast cells are the sole source of heparin in the body. This glycosaminoglycan has anticoagulant properties, which in conjuction with vasodilatory mediators such as histamine,

leukotrienes, and prostaglandins, can contribute to the increased blood flow in the joints during inflammatory synovitis. Specific binding sites for heparin have been identified on endothelial cells (93). By binding to these sites, heparin induces the migration of endothelial cells - a processs believed necessary for the phenomenon of neovascularization during tumor growth. This conclusion follows the observation of increased mast cell numbers at these sites (94), and a direct correlation between mast cell numbers and degree of angiogenesis.

Heparin's function in angiogenesis may be important in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Pannus formation over joint cartilage resembles an invasive neoplastic tissue growth, and such tissue growth is dependent upon its capacity to generate new capillary networks. It has been proposed that since mast cell tryptase, histamine, and heparin can also induce collagenase activity (96,86,95), partial degradation of the connective tissue matrix by mast cell mediators might serve to facilitate new capillary growth during pannus formation. The implication of these results is that synovial mast cells are directly involved in rheumatoid pannus formation.

## 2.3 PROTEOLYTIC ENZYMES IN RHEUMATOID PATHOLOGY

The acute phase of synovitis involves infiltration of inflammatory cells into the synovial fluid and depletion of articular cartilage. The sub-acute phase is marked by proliferation of synovial lining cells and the formation of invasive pannus which causes progressive destruction of the cartilage matrix. In both cases, degradation of cartilage is associated with a rapid loss of proteoglycan, possibly due to increased leukocyte proteolytic activity (97,98).

PMN leukocyte elastase has been shown to degrade and release proteoglycans from bovine articular cartilage in vitro (99), producing erosions that resemble those spen in arthritic cartilage. Synovial mast cells release chemoattractants for PMNs, and the subsequent local release of lysosomal enzymes may be a relevant mechanism of destructive inflammation in rheumatoid joints.

#### 2.3.1 MAST CELL PROTEOLYTIC ENZYMES

Proteolytic enzyme involvement in cartilage degradation is suggested by the detection of neutral proteases in human synovial fluid (100) and within human cartilage (101). Since neutral proteases comprise 10 to 20% of the mast cell granular components, these cells are a potential source of tissuedestructive enzymes. Granular enzymes are released along with other mediators into the tissue upon mast cell stimulation with appropriate antigen. The mast cell neutral proteases are active at physiological pH, and have specificities similar to trypsin and chymotrypsin (96), enabling them to degrade cartilage during joint inflammatory responses.

Another mast cell granule enzyme, tryptase, has been shown to cleave serum C3 protein to generate C3a anaphylatoxin (102).

The tryptase activity is down-regulated by heparin, which is part of the enzyme-heparin complex (103) released from the mast cell granules. The inflammatory and vascular effects of C3a anaphylatoxin are thus augmented by tryptase and controlled by heparin's dual ability to down-regulate the tryptase activation of C3 and increase by 100 fold the degradation of C3a (102). The synergistic activity of mast cell histamine, PGD2, and SRSAs in increasing vascular permeability ultimately results in increased influx of plasma proteins into the joint tissues, including C3, which then serves as substrate for tryptase. The tryptaseproduced C3a further increases vascular permeability by the direct induction of more histamine release (53). Therefore, a form of auto-stimulation of mast cell degranulation as a result of mast cell tryptase activity provides a mechanism for the local amplification of inflammatory reactions.

#### 2.3.2 COLLAGENASE

Active collagenase has been identified at the cartilage/pannus junction (104,105) where extensive cartilage degradation is evident. Collagenase is capable of degrading cartilage collagen as well as insoluble collagen (106). This enzymic activity is important in the pathogenesis of RA, collagen being the major structural protein of the cartilage matrix.

The recent finding that mast cell proteases are capable of activating procollagenases (96) further implicates these cells in the tissue destruction observed in rheumatoid joints. Collagenase is released from connective tissue fibroblasts and macrophage cells in an inactive state (107) and it requires activation by enzymes such as the mast cell neutral proteases (96). Histamine, serotonin (86), and heparin (95) have been shown to enhance the activity of rodent PMN collagenases, suggesting that the mast cell's role in collagen degradation involves both proteaseinduced activation and mediator enhancement of local collagenase activity.

#### 2.4 IGE AUTOANTIBODIES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Changes in immunoglobulin synthesis are common in RA. There are marked increases in serum IgG and IgM (24) as well as local immunoglobulin production within the rheumatoid synovium (108). Elevations in the IgE class of immunoglobulins have also been documented in both serum (109,110) and synovial fluids (111) of some RA patients.

### 2.4.1 ATOPY AND RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

The detection of raised levels of IgE in some RA patients led to the determination of the prevalence of atopy in these individuals. RA was found to occur with a frequency of 2 in 266 (0.8%) atopic patients (112), which is similar to the 1% prevalence of RA in the general U.K. population (113). In a study of 40 RA patients with an average disease duration of 14 years, 0'Driscoll also found no greater prevalence of atopy than in a control group (5 of 40 compared to 9 of 40 patients

respectively) (112). In addition, no evidence was found to indicate that allergic factors contributed to the arthritis of these patients.

Although RA patients as a group do not have a higher incidence of atopy than the general population, there is some evidence to suggest that immediate hypersensitivity reactions to food antigens can produce transient joint swelling (1). It is known that healthy intestinal mucous membranes can allow macromolecules to enter the circulation in sufficient amounts to stimulate the immune system (114). Food antigens must therefore be considered a constant source of stimulation and challenges for individuals with a history of food intolerances. There is some evidence that treatment with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs can increase gut permeability for macromolecule absorption (115), possibly leading to enhanced mucosal absorption of protein This could be an important source of antigen for foodantigens. sensitive arthritic individuals undergoing such drug therapy.

A variety of food intolerances have been reported in arthritic individuals, and there are studies showing clinical improvement of symptoms when these patients are placed on diets excluding the allergenic food (116-119). These patients produce food antigen-specific IgE antibodies (116,120,121), or antigenspecific IgG4 antibodies (119), both of which are cytotropic for mast cell surfaces. In these arthritic individuals, circulating homocytotropic antibodies may gain access to the highly vascular synovium and sensitize the local mast cells. Subsequent exposure to the corresponding antigen could trigger a local synovial hypersensitivity reaction, releasing vasoactive amines that would further increase the permeability of the blood vessels in the inflamed tissues. This would allow for the entry of larger amounts of allergen and facilitate the deposition of immune complexes that could amplify the local inflammatory reaction.

Patients who derived therapeutic benefit from the exclusion of foods to which they were sensitive, later demonstrated a flare-up of joint symptoms within hours of reintroduction of these foods into the diet. Circulating immune complexes containing IqG, IqE and ford allergen have been detected following oral challenge with the allergenic food antigen (120). These complexes are evident 1/2 hour after food challenge, and coincide with allergic symptoms. In these patients, both the immune complexes and allergic symptoms may be alleviated by pretreatment with sodium chromoglycate (121) which inhibits mast cell degranulation. In some cases, the joint inflammation is also shown to coincide with increases in circulating immune complexes containing IgE (116).

Animal studies have also produced some evidence to suggest that food antigens can induce antibodies that cross-react with other antigens including auto-antigens. An antibody specific for an antigen in alfalfa seeds has been shown to cross-react with DNA, and has been associated with a syndrome in experimental primates that resembles systemic lupus erythematosus (122). Rabbits fed a diet including cows' milk produce anti-IgG along

кљ

with anti-milk protein antibodies, and eventually develop a synovitis (123). Both of these experimental results are suggestive of a role for a food-allergic mechanism in the development of arthritis.

Thus allergy to food antigens appears to be a contributing factor to the pathogenesis of synovitis in some RA patients. Since food sensitivity in many cases may be difficult to diagnose, its total contribution to human arthritic inflammation might be difficult to accurately estimate.

#### 2.4.2 IGE RHEUMATOID FACTORS

Number of the second second

IgE rheumatoid factors (IgE-RF) were first discovered by Broder and colleagues in 1969, when he isolated immune complexes from sera of RA patients (124). The higher prevalence of IgE-RF in RA patients with systemic manifestations compared to patients with joint-restricted RA has been confirmed several by investigators (125-129). These studies further demonstrate a higher prevalence of IgE-RF in RA patients with Felty's Syndrome, which is considered to be a variant of seropositive RA with systemic complications, including leukopenia, splenomegaly, and lymphadenopathy. In addition, changes in IgE-RF levels tend to parallel arthritis activity more closely than changes in serum IgG-RF levels (130).

IgE-RF has also been detected in rheumatoid synovial fluids, along with some evidence of local synthesis in the joint (131). Furthermore, local production of IgE-RF has been proposed in the
case of an RA patient with pleural effusion (129) since the fluid was found to contain a higher concentration of IgE-RF than was present in the serum.

Serum IgE-RFs have also been associated with polyarthralgias in 42% of 26 juvenile rheumatoid arthritis patients (131), and in 9% of 32 asthmatic individuals (125). Since IgE-RFs do not occur in control or non-atopic individuals, it has been proposed that this rheumatoid factor may be directly involved in joint inflammation. Any RA patient with circulating IgE-RFs has the potential for sensitizing tissue mast cells in the synovial other highly vascularized tissues. membrane and Subsequent with contact serum IqG aggregates would trigger local inflammatory reactions at these sites, leading to extraarticular as well as joint symptoms. The possibility of this mechanism in the pathogenesis of extraarticular lesions is substantiated by the localization of IgE deposits in perivascular regions of the skin of some RA patients (132).

#### 2.4.3 IGE ANTINUCLEAR ANTIBODIES

Permin and coworkers have observed that peripheral blood leukocytes isolated from patients with clinically severe RA released histamine on challenge with RNA (133), and 6 of 8 responded to DNA, aggregated IgG (133), and isolated leukocyte nuclei (134). However, none of the leukocytes of RA patients with inactive disease or osteoarthritis (134) responded to challenges with these antigens. In another study (135)

peripheral blood leukocytes from RA patients did not release histamine following in vitro challenge with nuclear antigens, but these latter patients were all judged to be in clinical remission.

There is therefore some suggestion of a correlation between activity or severity of RA and IgE anti-nuclear antibodies. Since the histamine release response was observed in challenges with RNA only in the most severe disease cases, one might also suggest that the presence of RNA-specific IgE antibodies might be of value in identifying the severest forms of RA.

IgE with granulocyte-specific anti-nuclear antibody (IgE GS-ANA) specificity are also detected in 60% of 20 RA patients with neutropenia compared to only 16% of 64 RA patients without this symptom (136). This type of anti-nuclear antibody has not been detected in osteoarthritic or normal individuals (134), and is believed to promote the neutropenic condition of some RA patients, especially those with Felty's Syndrome. In addition, IgE organ-nonspecific anti-nuclear antibodies have been detected in 5% of 20 RA patients (137), and might contribute to the neutropenia and other systemic manifestations of RA.

RA patients with IgE antibodies of either anti-nuclear or RF specificities do not show a significant elevation in total serum IgE levels (133,134), and no correlation can be found between these IgE autoantibodies and total serum IgE (131,133). Furthermore, the IgE-ANA titers (136), but not the IgE-RF concentrations (130), appear to parallel those of the

autoantibodies of the other four immunoglobulin classes. This suggests that at least the IgE-ANA antibodies detected in RA patients are a result of an immune response to host antigens that involves all classes of immunoglobulin (136). For the most part, RA patients with IgE-ANA (134) or IgE-RF (131) exhibit extraarticular manifestations, or other forms of systemic rheumatic diseases (137). Elevations of auto-antibodies of the IgE class thus appear to be good predictors of more severe forms of RA (5).

The detection of autoantibodies of the IgE class in certain rheumatic patients provides a possible induction mechanism for autoallergic reactions between IgE rheumatoid factors or antinuclear antibodies and the corresponding nuclear or immunoglobulin antigens. These antigens might be located or generated at the site of tissue destruction, or gain entry into the tissue via dilated blood vessels in the inflamed rheumatoid synovium.

## 2.4.4 IMMUNE COMPLEXES CONTAINING IGE

Circulating immune complexes are a common occurence in RA. Immune complexes are held responsible for some of the tissue destruction occurring in the inflamed joints, as well as extraarticular lesions (28). Immune complexes containing IgE (IgE-ICs, have also been detected in RA patients, primarily in those diagnosed as having Felty's syndrome (128). While only 4 out of 20 PA patients with joint-restricted disease exhibit IgE-

ICs (128), 11 of 20 patients with Felty's Syndrome possess IgE-ICs in their serum. However, no direct correlation has been found between the IgE-ICs and the total serum IgE concentration.

The circulating immune complexes may be processed by PMNs and appear as large cytoplasmic inclusions (126). IqE-IC cytoplasmic inclusions are predominantly found in PMNs of patients with Felty's Syndrome compared to patients with RA Since IgE-ICs are capable of inducing mast cell alone. degranulation (124), these immune complexes may further exacerbate the complex-mediated tissue destruction by invoking the mast cells' proinflammatory mediators.

## 2.5 ANTI-IGE ANTIBODIES

There have also been descriptions of rheumatoid factors with specificity for determinants on the Fc portion of IgE. Three different naturally occurring anti-IgE antibodies have been Two of these are of the IgM isotype described in humans. (138,139), while one is of the IqG isotype (140). The three differ in specificity (141), and none of the anti-IgE's were capable of directly inducing histamine release from basophils in These studies also could not establish a positive vitro. correlation between serum IgE concentrations and the presence of anti-IgE antibody. Nevertheless, this anti-IgE auto-antibody is approximately 6 times more prevalent in patients with allergic histories (140), a population with higher IgE levels compared to the general public.

It has been established that the amount of anti-IgE incorporated into ICs depends upon the relative concentrations of serum IgE and anti-IgE (139): in conditions of high anti-IgE and low IgE concentrations, only 50% of the anti-IgE is complexed, whereas with moderate anti-IgE and high IgE levels, almost all of the anti-IgE occurs in its complexed state. This implies that in individuals with elevated serum IgE levels, most of the anti-IgE antibody would be incorporated into IC structures, and therefore undetectable unless these complexes are dispersed.

Since this auto-antibody is found predominantly in conditions that elevate serum IgE, such as in patients with allergies (140), or parasitic infections (141), it is postulated to play a role in the clearance of IgE-containing ICs. At the same time, its potential for contributing to the formation of ICs could result in the pathogenic tissue deposition of ICs.

Although there is as yet no evidence for the occurrence of this anti-IgE in RA patients, considering the prevalence of serum and synovial fluid IgE-ICs, the co-existence of an anti-IgE antibody could elevate the quantity of immune complexes and thereby contribute to the existing synovial and extraarticular lesions in these patients. Such a rheumatoid factor specificity should therefore be sought in RA patients, especially those with concomitant elevations of IgE levels, and extraarticular manifestations.

# 2.6 GOAL OF RESEARCH

C

S.

This project was aimed at developing an animal model of passive synovial anaphylaxis reactions, to examine the possible role of homocytotropic (allergic) antibodies in provoking inflammatory arthritis. Prior to this study, there was no documentation of such a model.

ستدعو با الله الاعوام با المواجرين الا

## CHAPTER 3--MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.1 HOMOCYTOTROPIC ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

.\*2

IgE production in the rat is regulated in a multitude of ways, including the participation of both genetic and soluble factors. The Brown Norway rat strain was chosen for the production of high titer antigen-specific IgE serum because this strain naturally produces high levels of IgE (142).

The experimental rats were housed in the animal quarters of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology at McGill University and were maintained on a normal diet of rat chow and water ad libitum. All manipulations were carried out on animals anesthetized with an intramuscular injection of a mixture of ketamine (Rogarsetic) and xylazine (Rompum) in a combined dosage of 8.6 mg xylazine/kg and 57 mg ketamine/kg body weight.

Both male and female 6 to 8 week old Brown Norway rats were purchased from Harlan Sprague Dawley or Charles River, and were immunized following the schedule established by Dr. H. Bazin (142) for the production of high titer antigen-specific IgE.  $1 \times 10^{10}$ Test were intra-peritoneally rats injected with Bordetella Pertussis cells (Department of Public Health, Boston) and 5 µg antigen using a 27 guage needle. Animals were boosted with the same concentration of antigen alone 21 days after immunization. The antigens and concentrations used to immunize Brown Ncrway rats for the production of specific IgE antiserum are listed in Table 4.1.

Control blood was collected from Brown Norway rats by retroorbital puncture with a glass pipette or a capillary tube. After immunization, samples were obtained by cardiac puncture with a 22 guage needle (Becton-Dickinson). In either case the blood was transferred to sterile vacutainer tubes (Becton-Dickinson) and allowed to clot for 2 hours at room temperature. The tubes were then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 15 minutes and the serum separated into aliquots of 500  $\mu$ l in plastic ependorf tubes. These aliquots were stored at -20° C for use in subsequent assays.

# 3.2 ELISA PROCEDURE

A STATES

An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay was developed for the quantitation of total serum IgE, and antigen-specific IgE and IgG in post-immune serum samples. Optimal working dilutions for the antisera and test sera were established using a checkerboard titration system (144). Using this technique, it was determined that the greatest differences in optical density (OD) between the control and high titer serum values were obtained with dilutions of 1:100 for the primary goat anti-rat IgE antibody, and 1:500 for the enzyme-conjugated rabbit anti-goat antibody. For IgE measurements, the best serum dilution was found to be 1:64, and a dilution of 1:128 was determined as optimal for IgG quantitation. These serum dilutions were used in all subsequent assays.

Quantitation of serum IgE levels were attempted by using a purified monoclonal IgE preparation (IR2 provided by Dr. Bazin)

to construct a standard curve. The OD readings for serially diluted preparations of the purified immunoglobulin were plotted against the logarithm of the dilution. However, since a wide range of dilutions of the standard immunoglobulin protein did not produce significant changes in OD readings (Figure 3.1), the pure IgE was considered to have undergone sufficient denaturation so as to no longer be recognized by the specific antisera system in IgE is highly labile, and it is not uncommon for serum to use. loose its skin-sensitizing activity due to the denaturation of IgE following long term storage (145). Consequently, the IgE quantitation results were expressed ratios of the as immune:preimmune ODs for the serum samples collected from each test animal.

In contrast to the attempts to use purified IgE as a standard, serially diluted rat serum produced a good standard curve. This indicates the specificity of the antisera for rat IgE, and that the assay conditions in use were appropriate. The specificity of the antisera for serum IgE was further shown by the fact that preincubation of serum containing high IgE concentrations with the antiserum, prior to use of the latter in the ELISA, effectively reduced the sample OD readings to control levels (Figure 3.2).

#### 3.2.1 TOTAL SERUM IGE MEASUREMENTS

Tota? serum IgE was measured using a double antibody sandwich ELISA technique. Polystyrene microtiter plates

(Immulon) were coated over night at 4°C with 1:500 dilution in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) of monoclonal mouse antibody specific for the rat epsilon heavy-chain (prepared and provided by Dr. H. Bazin (146)). The coated plates were washed 3 times with PBS, pH 7.2, to remove any unbound antibody. The nonspecific protein binding sites were blocked by incubating for 1 hour at 37° C with a solution of 1% bovine serum albumin (protease-free, Miles Scientific) in PBS. The plates were again washed 3 times with PBS and then test sera diluted 1:64 in PBS was allowed to bind for 3 hours at 37°C. The plates were washed 3 times with PBS containing 0.1% Tween-20, which is a non-ionic non-specific detergent used to minimize inter-protein This was followed by a 1 hour incubation at 37°C interactions. with goat antibody against the rat epsilon heavy chain (147), diluted 1:100 in PBS/Tween buffer. The plates were then washed 3 times with PBS/Tween buffer and incubated for 1 hour with 1:500 diluted alkaline phosphatase-conjugated rabbit-anti-goat antiserum (goat IgG species-specific, BioRad). Finally, the enzyme substrate p-nitrophenylphosphate (lmg/ml in а 10% diethanolamine buffer, BioRad), was incubated for 1 hour at 37°C and optical density readings were obtained at 410 nm using a manual ELISA spectrophotometer (Dynatech).

## 3.2.2 ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC IGE MEASUREMENTS

) × 100 the same " . . . .

This procedure is identical to that outlined above for total IgE, except for the initial preparation of the microtiter plates.

Polystyrene plates were coated over night with 50  $\mu$ l of the immunizing antigen, diluted to a concentration of 100  $\mu$ g/ml in PBS, rather than coating with anti-IgE antibody. All subsequent steps and antisera used were the same as those used in the assays for total IgE.

## 3.2.3 ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC IGG MEASUREMENTS

Antigen specific IgG was assayed using the ELISA method described above for antigen specific IgE, except that the primary antibody used was a goat-anti-rat-IgG (Cooper Biomedical) diluted 1:100 in PBS/Tween buffer.

The ELISA results are expressed as a ratio of the optical density immune:preimmune values, calculated using the following equation:

#### OD of immune serum - OD of nonspecific well

OD of preimmune serum - OD of nonspecific well

The student T-test was used to analyze the relative antibody responses to the different antigens.

## 3.3 PASSIVE SYNOVIAL ANAPHYLAXIS REACTION (PSA)

## 3.3.1 SENSITIZATION OF LEWIS RAT JOINTS

Male Lewis rats 300 to 350 grams purchased from Charles River were used throughout for the inflammatory response in PSA because of the strain's susceptibility to adjuvant and collagen type II arthritis (148), the two most studied animal models of

anesthetized arthritis. The Lewis rats were with an intramuscular injection of ketamine/xylazine. Using a 25 guage needle 5/8" (Becton-Dickinson), 50 µl of serum containing homocytotropic antibody activity was injected into the joint space of the flexed knees, entering just below the patella. The control knees received 50 µl of pre-immune BN rat serum, and the test knees received post-immune sera that had been assayed for antigen-specific IqE and IqG, and were known to contain homocytotropic antibody activity.

# 3.3.2 ANTIGEN CHALLENGE

After a minimal delay of 24-48 hours, sufficient to allow unfixed proteins to be cleared from the synovium (162), the rats were injected intravenously (via the dorsal vein of the penis) with the antigen corresponding to the joint-sensitizing homocytotropic antibody. It was determined that the optimal correlation between inflammation and injected antigen specific-IgE concentrations occurred when animals were challenged 24 hours after sensitization (see Results). Consequently, all challenges were routinely performed 24 hours after sensitization.

By challenging rats with a range of antigen concentrations, it was determined that 1 mg was the optimal dose for ovalbumin in producing detectable joint inflammation 1 hour after intravenous antigen challenge. The Bordetella Pertussis, when studied as antigen, gave the best challenge results if the cells were sonicated and administered at a concentration of 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml.

38

The other immunizing antigens were not used in these challenge experiments because of a lack of antigen-specific IgE response in the immunized animals as determined by ELISA (see Results).

# 3.3.3 ASSESSMENT OF JOINT INFLAMMATION

The local joint hypersensitivity reaction could be visibly detected by injecting Evans Blue dye intravenously - similar to the standard passive cutaneous anaphylaxis reaction. However, more quantitative techniques were necessary to evaluate tissue inflammatory responses. Changes in joint size were measured directly using a vernier scale caliper (Fisher) capable of accurate measurements to 0.1 mm. The leg was fully extended and the calipers were placed under the patella to measure the full joint diameter; the measurement was taken at the point where free movement of the calipers was restricted by the tissue.

The results are expressed as percent changes in joint size, and were calculated according to the following formula:

# post-challenge joint size - pre-challenge joint size X 100. pre-challenge joint size

A second method of assessing joint inflammation utilized an isotopic joint scanning technique. 1 mCi of  $^{99}$ Technetium methylene diphosphonate (Osteolite kit, New England Nuclear) was injected intravenously 1 hour after antigen challenge and the joints were scanned 2 hours later. The preparation of the  $^{99}$ Tc

and scans were carried out in the Department of Nuclear Medicine at the Royal Victoria Hospital using standard scanning equipment. Each knee was scanned by placing the probe directly against the extended knee and counting for 3 minutes. The average CPM for scans over each joint was then calculated.

# 3.4 PHARMACOLOGICAL MODIFICATION OF PSA

Competitive inhibitors of histamine receptors were injected into both joints at various concentrations to establish the concentration necessary to produce inhibition of inflammation on challenging with antigen. Either promethazine-HCl (Poulenc), specific for histamine H1 receptors, or cimetidine-HCl (Smith Kline and French), specific for histamine H2 receptors, was injected into the joint space of both control and immune serumsensitized joints. Half an hour prior to antigen challenge, 50 µl of the inhibitor solutions diluted in sterile PBS to final concentrations ranging from 15 mg to 0.01 mg, were injected into each joint. This delay presumably allowed for some drug-receptor interaction before the actual antigen challenge. All prechallenge joint measurements were taken 1 hour after the inhibitor was injected into the joints.

# 3.5 INDUCTION OF ADJUVANT ARTHRITIS

Adjuvant arthritis was induced in Lewis rats following an established procedure (149). Male Lewis rats were injected subcutaneously in the tail with 100 µl of Freunds Complete

Adjuvant (FCA, Gibco) emulsified with PBS, followed by a second identical injection 7 days later. Periodic measurments of knee joints were used to determine the progression of the arthritic inflammation, by calculating the percent changes in the prechallenge joint sizes, using the following formula:

Persistent joint swelling for at least 2 days was the criteria used to diagnose arthritic animals.

# 3.6 INDUCTION OF COLLAGEN-II ARTHRITIS

Collagen-II arthritis was induced following an established procedure (150). Male Lewis rats were injected with 10 µg of rat collagen type II (Calbiochem) emulsified in Freunds Incomplete Adjuvant (Gibco) and 1 week later boosted with the same mixture. Arthritis development was assessed by prechallenge knee joint measurements following the same diagnostic criteria used in the previous model.

In other experiments, a PSA reaction was provoked in one of the knee joints during the induction period, or just after the development of adjuvant or collagen-II arthritis. This involved the calculation of the PSA challenge-induced increases in joint size, as well as the percent increase in pre-challenge joint size due to the arthritic stimulus alone.

# 3.7 HISTOLOGICAL STUDIES

## 3.7.1 TISSUE PREPARATION

No.

sensitization and antigen Following joint challenge, synovial tissue was excised from Lewis rat; sacrificed with a lethal injection of anesthetic (ketamine and xylazine). Tissue was trimmed and then processed by an autotechnicon tissue processor according to the standard procedure employed in the Pathology Department, Royal Victoria Hospital (151). Tissue was fixed for 1 hour in 10% buffered formalin, which is a 1:10 dilution in PBS of a stock solution of 37 to 40% formaldehyde (Fisher). Autotechnicon tissue processing involved clearing in xylene and chloroform, dehydration in 95 to 100% ethanol, and impregnation with paraffin wax (Paraplast, Fisher) under vacuum. The processed tissue was embedded in Paraplast, and sections 6  $\mu$ Tissue sections thick were cut using a Spencer 820 microtome. were floated on water/gelatin, and then dried onto glass slides for 1 hour at 65°C and over night at 37°C. The tissue section slides were deparaffinized in three changes each of xylene and 70 to 100% graded ethanol, then specifically stained for mast cells.

# 3.7.2 TISSUE STAINING FOR MAST CELLS

Mast cells were stained with alcian blue and safranin-O according to the method of the Pathology Department, Royal Victoria Hospital (151). Deparaffinized tissue section slides were incubated in 3% acetic acid for 10 minutes, then stained with 5 mg/ml alcian blue (Allied Chemicals) in 0.3% acetic acid for 45 minutes. The slides were washed in water for 5 minutes, then counterstained with 1 mg/ml safranin-O (Baker Chemical Co.) in 1% acetic acid for 15 minutes. The stained tissue was dehydrated in 3 changes of absolute ethanol for 1 to 2 minutes each, followed by 2 changes of xylene for 5 to 10 minutes each, and then mounted with permount (Fisher) and a glass coverslip.

Avidin, a protein found in egg white, is known to bind with high affinity and specificity to mast cell granules (152). This has therefore been utilized as an additional staining method for synovial mast cells (152). The process required incubating the tissues section slides with a 1:200 dilution of avidin conjugated to Fluorescein Isothiocyanate (FITC, ICN Biologicals), in PBS for 1 hour in a humid chamber at 23°C. The slides were then washed 3 times for 10 minutes in PBS pH 7.2, and covered with 90% glycerol (Fisher) in PBS and c glass coverslip. The stained slides were examined and photographed using an incident light fluorescence microscope (Zeiss).

Tissue sections were examined for both mast cell numbers and evidence of mast cell degranulation. The histological observations were later correlated with the antigen-induced joint inflammatory responses measured just prior to tissue extraction.

### 3.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Ail data are expressed as mean values +/- standard errors (SEM). Significance of differences between groups was assessed by the student T-test.



Figure 3.1 Standard Curve for Monoclonal IgE. Serial dilutions of the monoclonal IgE were assayed for total IgE by ELISA. Preincubation of the anti-IgE antiserum used in the ELISA with serum containing high IgE concentrations significantly reduced the sample OD readings, but neither of the curves showed significant changes in the optical density over a wide range of dilutions (p> 0.05). Values are means of 3 determinations +/- SEM.



Figure 3.2 Standard Curve for Rat Serum IgE. Serial dilutions of BN rat serum were assayed for total IgE by ELISA. The specificity of the reaction is shown by the ability of a preincubation of the anti-IgE antiserum used in the ELISA with serum containing high levels of IgE, to significantly lower the sample OD readings. Values are means of 3 determinations +/-SEM.

## CHAPTER 4--RESULTS

To develop the PSA model, it was necessary to prepare high concentrations of antigen-specific immunoglobulin-E. Using the immunization schedule established by Dr. H. Bazin (142), Brown Norway (BN) rats were immunized with various antigens of interest to RA. The sera obtained was assayed by an ELISA technique developed to measure rat serum IgE levels.

## 4.1 IGE RESPONSE TO IMMUNIZING ANTIGENS

There were notable, and as yet unexplainable, differences in the antibody responses to the various immunizing antigens (See Table 4.1). Because some antigens did not induce good IgE responses at the immunizing antigen doses used, it was deemed necessary to also measure the antigen-specific IgG levels to determine if the inoculations had been successful. As can be seen (Figure 4.1,, rats immunized with pertussis alone produced significant IgG and IgE responses. The IgG response peaked and levelled off after day 28. On the other hand, the total IgE response peaked earlier, reaching levels up to 9 times the control by day 14 then falling to levels only 1.5 times the preimmune. Pertussis specific IgE increased steadily until day 35, then decreased Ly day 56 to a level 7.5 times the control.

BN Rats immunized with ovalbumin and pertussis (Figure 4.2), induced a pertussis-specific IgG response that rose to plateau by day 35. By day 14 the total IgE antibody ratios were 4.5 times the pre-immune values, before decreasing steadily to levels 2.5 times the pre-immune. The ovalbumin-specific IgG ratios increased 4 to 7 fold following immunization, and remained relatively unchanged throughout the post-immune period studied. Pertussis-specific IgE levels were also significant (5 to 6 fold higher than pre-immune), while ovalbumin-specific IgE levelled off by day 35 with antibody ratios 10 times the pre-immune.

47

Following immunization with human IqG (Figure 4.3). experimental rats demonstrated a pertussis-specific IgG response that increased to levels 12 times the control. The pertussis specific IgE response decreased from its highest level at day 14 (6 fold higher than pre-immune) to level off at a value half of The human IgG-specific IgG antibody response did not maximal. significance (p>0.10), although 3 of the 19 reach levels of animals showed a moderate response to the antigen. Nevertheless, the human IqG-specific IqE antibody response reached values 2.5 fold higher than pre-immune levels, although this response was detected only in blood samples collected on day 14 (p<0.001).

group of rats immunized with pertussis and human One collagen-II (Figure 4.4) showed a 50 fold increase in pertussisspecific IgG and a 20 fold increase in pertussis-specific IgE (p<0.001), considerably higher than the pertussis-specific responses observed in any other immune group. Following immunization with rat collagen-II (Figure 4.5), experimental rats demonstrated anti-pertussis responses in both the IgG and IgE immunoglobulin, with 20 classes of and 3 fold increases respectively (p<0.001). However, in neither of these animal

\*\*

groups was a significant IgG or IgE response detected against the collagen-II antigens (p>0.10).

Another population of rats was immunized with muramyl dipeptide (MDP) (Figure 4.6). The pertussis-specific IqG levels increased 40 fold and IqE increased 12 fold following immunization (p<0.001), but no response to MDP was observed in either of these classes of immunoglobulins (p>0.10). While MDPspecific IgG was detected in 3 out of 13 MDP-immune rats, this response was not significant, possibly due to the small molecular weight of the immunizing peptide. Furthermore, none of these animals produced MDP-specific IgE (Fig. 4.6).

# 4.2 THE PSA REACTION

1

#### 4.2.1 TIME COURSE OF THE PSA REACTION

The anti-ovalbumin specific antisera contained the highest IgE titers, and these were subsequently used for sensitization of rat synovial tissues preceeding PSA reaction induction. Rat knee joints were sensitized with serum containing known levels of IgE. Following intravenous challenge with 1 mg ovalbumin antigen, there was significant swelling of the sensitized as compared to the unsensitized knee joints (Figure 4.7). The percent change in knee diameter peaked 2 hours after the antigen challenge, and the joint gradually returned to its pre-challenge diameter after 24 hours. The joint swelling observed 1 hour following antigen challenge was, on the average, 82% of the maximum response observed. In order to minimize the time of anesthesia, and for comparative purposes, all subsequent joint measurements were made 1 hour after antigen challenge.

## 4.2.2 CORRELATION BETWEEN IGE AND INFLAMMATION

Rat knee joints were sensitized with control or ovalbuminspecific IgE-containing serum. After a minimal delay of 24 hours, the animals were challenged intravenously with 1 mg of ovalbumin, and the changes in joint size were recorded 1 hour following the challenge (Figure 4.8). A direct correlation was found between the levels of antigen-specific IgE present in the PSA-sensitizing serum and the magnitude of the change in joint size upon challenging with antigen. The best correlation was obtained for PSA-challenges performed 24 hours after sensitization (r=0.81, p<0.0001)and the dose response correlation tended to decrease with the increased delay between sensitization and antigen challenge (see Table 4.2). Ovalbuminspecific IgG antibody ratios were also found to correlate directly with the magnitude of the PSA-induced inflammation (r=0.75, p<0.001 for n=29).

A similar correlation was obtained between the pertussisspecific IgE and the PSA inflammatory response (Figure 4.9), and the best correlation was observed for antigen challenges conducted 24 hours after sensitization (r=0.74, p=0.004). See Table 4.3. Pertussis-specific IgG antibody ratios, however, did not correlate with the magnitude of the PSA inflammation (r=0.17, p=0.27 for n=42).

# 4.2.3 HISTOLOGICAL EVIDENCE OF THE PSA REACTION

In order to determine that the measurable tissue edema was indeed due to mast cell degranulation, histological studies were carried out on the synovial tissues, both before and after antigen challenge. Control synovial tissue contained numerous and densely granulated mast cells in the perivascular regions (Figure 4.10), with a great variability in total mast cell numbers observed between the different tissue samples.

Lewis rats that had been sensitized for a joint PSA response were sacrificed 30 minutes after the challenge and the synovial tissue stained and examined for mast cells. The mast cells in these tissues appeared less densely granulated when compared to cells in control tissues, and were occasionally observed releasing granules into the surrounding tissue (Figure 4.11). Histological studies on synovial tissue extracted following joint PSA reactions showed a direct relationship between the antigenspecific IgE levels used in the sensitization, and the degree of mast cell degranulation (p=0.00016). However, the total number of mast cells did not directly reflect the injected IgE antibody levels (p=0.283). These results are listed in Table 4.4.

FITC-conjugated avidin was used as a second staining technique for mast cells since it has been shown to bind directly to mast cell granules as a result of ionic interactions between the avidin and the heparin within the granules (152). Staining with FITC-avidin was found to be ideal for the rapid screening of tissue for the presence of mast cells, and a good method for

judging the density of mast cell granulation (Figure 4.12). A more diffuse pattern of staining was observed for synovial mast cells in the PSA-reactive joints compared to control joints.

# 4.2.4 RADIOISOTOPIC JOINT SCANS

Isotopic joint scanning was used to help establish that the measurable swelling of the PSA joint was a result of a synovial hypersensitivity reaction induced by intravenous antigen challenge. Since the <sup>99</sup>Technetium methylene diphosphonate (<sup>99</sup>Tc) compound binds ionized Ca, areas of abnormal osteogenesis or increased skeletal blood perfusion during joint inflammatory sites for radioisotope responses, become the preferential It was necessary to delay the  $^{99}$ Tc injection 1 accumulation. hour after antigen challenge in order to allow the synovial hypersensitivity reaction to progress before the radioisotope was (No difference in radioisotope accumulation was injected. detected between the PSA and control joints when the antigen and <sup>99</sup>Tc were injected simultaneously.) The joints sensitized with ovalbumin-specific IgE had on the average a 2 fold greater accumulation of <sup>99</sup>Tc than did the contralateral joints injected with control serum. One such joint scan conducted on an experimental PSA rat is shown in Figure 4.13. It was not possible however, to show a direct correlation between the <sup>99</sup>Tc counts in the knee joint and the amount of IgE used to sensitize the synovium (Table 4.5).

# 4.2.5 PHARMACOLOGICAL MODIFICATION OF PSA

\* Horney

Cimetidine pretreatment of the knees prior to antigen challenge caused an inhibition of the PSA-induced joint swelling with drug dosages ranging between 0.01 and 1 mg (p<0.001). However, higher drug dosages (ranging between 5 and 15 mg of cimetidine) actually caused enhancement of the PSA joint swelling. Control joints injected with similar concentrations of cimetidine did not become inflamed, thus it would appear that the exacerbation of the PSA response is not due to any possible toxic effects of cimetidine. No significant inhibition or enhancement of inflammation was observed when joints were pretreated with promethazine in the dosage range used (Table 4.6).

# 4.2.6 DURATION OF THE SENSITIZATION

Following the sensitization of rat knee joints, the animals were challenged with antigen at different intervals for a period of up to 36 days. At each challenge time, the magnitude of the joint inflammation was recorded. The greatest change in joint size was observed when animals were challenged 24 hours after sensitization (Figure 4.14). While the PSA-inducible joint swelling decreased with time, at the end of the 36 day period the reaction was still 60% of the maximal day 1 response.

## 4.3 EFFECT OF PSA ON COLLAGEN-II ARTHRITIS

The effect of a local PSA reaction on collagen-II induced joint inflammation was examined with respect to the latency for

of synovitis, and the severity of the development the inflammation induced with the collagen model. Experimental rats were simultaneously treated with a subcutaneous injection of arthritogenic rat collagen-II and an intraarticular injection of ovalbumin-specific IgE for the PSA sensitization. The joint diameters were measured prior to and following each challenge with the ovalbumin antigen, and measurements of the unsensitized knees were used as controls in comparison with values for the an additional control, sensitized knees. As the percent increases in pre-challenge joint sizes were used to indicate the degree of inflammation due to the arthritogenic collagen-II.

Superimposing the PSA reaction on a developing collageninduced synovitis (Figure 4.15) indicates a greater increase in pre-challenge joint sizes of the IqE-sensitized knees the beginning approximately 7 days after the first PSA-induced reaction (p<0.001). This implies that the measurable inflammation due to the arthritogenic collagen-II (quantified as increases in pre-challenge joint sizes) is augmented by repeated joint PSA reactions. By the end of the 28 day study period, the PSA-induced inflammatory response is itself increased to levels significantly higher than the Day-1 PSA response (p=0.047). One week after the arthritogenic collagen injection, the prechallenge joint sizes of both the control and IgE-sensitized joints are significantly greater than the initial measurements. Thus while the PSA reaction increases the severity of the ongoing arthritis, it does not appear to affect the latency time required

for a detectible inflammation.

ſ

1

The effect of the PSA reaction on pre-existing synovitis was examined in test rats allowed to develop collagen-II arthritis 2 weeks prior to joint sensitization with IgE. The progression of arthritis in these animals was again assessed in terms of changes in pre-challenge joint sizes and the articulation of affected While the pre-challenge joint sizes increased during joints. disease progression, no significant difference was detected at each time point between the control and IgE-sensitized joints This implies that the superimposed PSA reaction did (p>0.05). not measurably affect the severity or the latency time of the developing collagen-II arthritis throughout the full 28 day duration of the experiment. It may be noteworthy that the increases in successive PSA responses reached significance by day following the 28 (p<0.001), approximately 2 weeks initial sensitization with specific IgE (Figure 4.16).

# 4.4 EFFECT OF PSA ON ADJUVANT ARTHRITIS

Similar results were obtained with the adjuvant model of arthritis. Lewis rats were simultaneously treated with a subcutaneous injection of Freunds Complete Adjuvant, and an intraarticular injection of ovalbumin-specific IgE. The prechallenge joint size was periodically monitored to provide an indication of arthritis onset. Beginning 14 days after the first PSA-induced reaction, the IgE-sensitized joints exhibited greater pre-challenge inflammatory changes in joint sizes compared to the unsensitized control joints (p<0.01) (Figure 4.17). This implies that the PSA reaction can contribute to a developing adjuvantinduced synovitis. After repeated antigen challenges, the PSA response itself was significantly increased by day 28 (p=.017). This suggests a reciprocal potentiating effect of an adjuvantinduced joint inflammation on the PSA reaction.

When adjuvant arthritis was allowed to develop for 2 weeks prior to joint sensitization, no notable differences in the prechallenge joint sizes were observed between the control and IgEsensitized joints (p>0.05) (Figure 4.18). It would appear that the PSA reaction, if initiated 2 weeks after the arthritogenic adjuvant injection, does not measurably exacerbate the preexisting inflammation. As in the collagen-II model, the PSA response itself was significantly increased compared to the initial PSA response, attaining significance 2 weeks after the IgE sensitization (p<0.01).

Examination of the synovial tissue of both adjuvant and collagen-II induced arthritis animals revealed intact mast cells in the control joints (Figure 4.19), while the PSA-sensitized tissue showed mast cells in the process of degranulation following antigen challenge (Figure 4.20).

The sensitized adjuvant and collagen-II arthritis rats demonstrated an additional swelling of the ankles ipsilateral to the PSA knee (Figure 4.21). Since these joints were not directly sensitized with IgE, one can speculate on the possible leakage of of IgE from the knee joint space into the circulation. While it

- **\*** \*

is doubtful that the injected IgE is recirculated in sufficient quantities to produce significant tissue-binding, actual ankle sensitization is implied by the observation of mast cell degranulation in some tissue samples following PSA reactions. Why the ankle on the PSA side might be favored for sensitization is not known. It is possible that swelling of the PSA knee affects lymphatic flow from the ankles, and thus indirectly account for this phenomenon.

. . . . .

56

استواست المستعلين المراجع والمراجع والمراجع

(

, in the second s

ين. مرد Summary of IgG and IgE Antibody Responses to Various Immunizing Antigens.

	Amount .	Adjuvant-specific		Antigen-specific	
Antigen	(Jnd)	IgG	IgE	IgG	IgE
pertussis	10 <sup>10</sup> cells	s +C	+c	NA	NA
ovalbumin	5	+a	+a	d+	+a
human IgG	16.5	+c	+c	-	+ <sup>C</sup> Day 14
human collagen 1	(I 5	+c	+c	-	-
rat collagen II	33	+c	+c	-	-
muramyl dipeptid	le 55	+c	+c		-

All immunizing solutions of antigen and adjuvant were made up to a total volume of 1 ml in sterile PBS.

N.A.= not applicable a p<0.05 b p<0.01 c p<0.001

Responses are judged to be negative if p>0.10 for the comparison of immune:preimmune antibody ratios.

- and the state of the state of

Correlation Between Ovalbumin-specific IgE Ratios and PSA Responses at Different Challenge Times.

 $r^2$ Time of Intercept Slope Т р r challenge \* 4.3 0.53 7.7 <0.0001 0.66 0.81 24 hr 0.54 48 hr 5.0 0.45 6.0 <0.0001 0.73 72 hr 4.8 0.39 5.7 <0.0001 0.54 0.73 0.35 3.3 0.006 0.46 0.68 96 hr 4.4

n=33 Lewis rats immunized th pertussis and ovalbumin.

\* Rats were challenged with 1 mg ovalbumin at the indicated times following sensitization, and change in joint size was recorded 1 hour after antigen challenge.

Ovalbumin-specific IgG antibody ratios were similarly found to correlate directly with the magnitude of the PSA-induced inflammation (r=0.75, p<0.001 for n=29).

Correlation Between Pertussis-specific IgE Ratios and PSA Responses at Different Challenge Times.

Time of challenge	Intercept **	Slope	Т	p	r <sup>2</sup>	r
24	6.8	0.40	3.6	0.004	0.54	0.74
48	5.9	0.36	2.1	0.059	0.29	0.54
72	7.3	0.22	1.7	0.11	0.21	0.46
96	4.8	0.53	2.6	0.049	0.57	0.76

59

n=13 rats immunized with pertussis.

\* Rats were challenged with 10<sup>5</sup> sonicated pertussis cells at the indicated times following sensitization, and the change in joint size was recorded 1 hour after antigen challenge.

Pertussis-specific IgG antibody ratios did not correlate with the magnitude of the PSA inflammation (r=0.17, p=0.27 for n=42).

a state

Correlation Between Ovalbumin-specific IgE Ratios and PSA-induced Mast Cell Degranulation.

IgE ratios (Immune/Control)	* Relative Mast cell Degranulation	Total Mast ** Cells/Field	**
1.0 (Control)	0	4	
2.7	1	3	
7.2	1.5	4	
11.0	2	2	
11.8	2	4	
13.2	2	5	
13.5	2	4	
14.3	2	3	
15.5	4	2	
17.0	3	3	
19.5	4	2	

Rats were challenged with antigen 24 hours after joint sensitization with serum containing the indicated IgE activity, the synovial tissue was extracted 30 minutes after challenge and stained with Alcian Blue and Safranin-O. Results are means of 2 experiments with the same sera.

\* The density of the mast cell granules were scored from 0-4 for decreasing granule density.

There is a direct correlation between the IgE antibody ratios and the relative mast cell degranulation (r=0.90, p=0.00016).

\*\* The average of mast cells counted in a total of 3 microscope fields at 45 X magnification.

There is no correlation between the IgE antibody ratios and the total number of mast cells (r=-0.36, p=0.283).

.,**n**.,

\*\*

<sup>99</sup>Technetium Accummulation in the Joints Following PSA Reactions.

IgE Ratios	<sup>99</sup> Tc Counts Ratios *	SEM
immune/control	sensitized/unsensitized	

11	1.96	0.17
17	2.09	0.21
19.5	1.98	0.05

Rats were sensitized with ovalbumin-specific IgE and challenged with 1 mg ovalbumin 1 hour before the injection of <sup>99</sup>Technetium methylene diphosphonate.

\* The <sup>99</sup>Tc count ratios are the means of 2 experiments using the same 3 sera.

- -

PARE AN GROUP DO N IN COLON STATE & I

No.

Effect of Intraarticular Antihistamines on the PSA Reaction.

Drug	P	ercent change i	n sensitized joint size
Dosage (mg)	W	ith cimetiaine	with prometnazine
0.00		11.88 +/- 2.67	12.46 +/- 3.13
0.01	*	1.74 + / - 0.41	11.88 +/- 2.88
0.05	*	2.03 + / - 0.63	11.30 +/- 1.88
0.10	*	1.74 + / - 0.41	11.59 + / - 2.33
0.50	*	1.77 + / - 0.23	11.88 +/- 2.26
1.00	*	5.80 +/- 1.44	12.17 + - 2.69
5.00		11.88 +/- 2.67	10.72 + / - 1.85
15.00	**	25.51 +/- 2.06	9.56 +/- 2.56

PSA reactions were induced in joints sensitized with equal concentrations of antigen-specific IgE, by challenging with 1 mg ovalbumin. Data points are the mean values for 3 experiments +/-SEM.

\* Significant inhibition (p<0.001).

\*\* Significant enhancement of inflammation (p=0.015).

Other values are not significantly different from unmodified PSA results (p>0.05).


Figure 4.1. The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis (Department of Public Health, Boston)(n=12). Relative antibody levels are expressed as ratios of immune/preimmune +/- SEM. All post-immune antibody ratios are significantly higher than the preimmune levels (p<0.001).



tus a start to the cando

(

A Nice

Figure 4.2. The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Ovalbumin (Pentex)(n=9). Relative antibody levels are expressed as a ratio of immune/preimmune +/- SEM. All post-immune antibody ratios are significantly higher than the preimmune:

ovalbumin	IgG	p<0.01
total IgE		p<0.0001
pertussis	IgE	p<0.05
ovalbumin	IgE	p<0.05



Figure 4.3. The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Human IgG (Sigma)(n=19). Relative antibody levels are expressed as a ratio of immune/preimmune +/- SEM. The IgE response to human IgG is significantly higher than pre-immune levels only on day 14 post-immunization (p<0.001). Both the IgG and IgE responses to pertussis are significantly higher post-immunization (p<0.001). For all other responses, p>0.10.



Figure 4.4. The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Human Collagen-II (Calbiochem)(n=7). Relative antibody levels are expressed as a ratio of immune/preimmune +/- SEM. Both IgG and IgE responses to pertussis are significantly elevated following immunization (p<0.001). Responses to human collagen-II are not significantly higher when compared to pre-immune antibody levels (p>0.10).



ŧ

r

Figure 4.5. The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Rat Collagen-II (Calbiochem) (n=6). Relative antibody levels are expressed as a ratio of immune/preimmune +/- SEM. Both IgG and IgE responses to pertussis are significantly elevated following immunization (p<0.001). Responses to rat collagen-II are not significantly higher than pre-immune antibody levels (p>0.10).



ľ

Figure 4.6. The IgG and IgE Antibody Responses in BN Rats Immunized with Pertussis and Muramyl Dipeptide (MDP, Calbiochem)(n=13). Relative antibody levels are expressed as a ratio of immune/preimmune +/- SEM. Both IgG and IgE responses to pertussis are significantly higher following immunization (p<0.001). Responses to MDP are not significant when compared to pre-immune antibody levels (p>0.10).



Figure 4.7. Time Course of PSA Reaction. Lewis rats (n=6) were sensitized with ovalbumin-immune serum, then challenged with ovalbumin 24 hours postsensitization. The percent changes in joint sizes were measured at the indicated intervals following the antigen challenge. The error bars represent the SEM. Inflammation peaks at 2 hours, and returns to control levels 24 hours after the challenge.

. С



ų.

Figure 4.8. Correlation Between Ovalbumin-specific IgE and PSA-induced Joint Swelling. Rat knee joints (n=33) were sensitized with serum containing known levels of ovalbumin-specific IgE, and challenged I.V. 24 hours later with 1 mg ovalbumin. The change in joint size was recorded 1 hour after the antigen challenge. There is a significant correlation between IgE levels and the inducible swelling produced on challenging with antigen (r=0.81, p<0.0001). See Table 4.2.



Figure 4.9. Correlation Between Pertussis-specific IgE and PSA-induced Joint Swelling. Rat knee joints (n=13) were sensitized with serum containing known levels of pertussis-specific IgE, and challenged I.V. 24 hours later with 10<sup>5</sup> sonicated pertussis cells. The change in joint size was recorded 1 hour following antigen challenge. There is a significant correlation between IgE levels and the inducible swelling produced on challenging with antigen (r=0.74, p=0.004). See Table 4.3.



Figure 4.10. Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Mast Cells in Normal Synovium (magnification 400 X). The synovial tissue was extracted from the unsensitized knee joint of a Lewis rat, 30 minutes after an intravenous challenge with 1 mg of ovalbumin. Note the heavily granulated mast cells distributed in close proximity to the synovial blood vessels.

Ţ



Figure 4.11. Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Mast Cells in PSA-reactive Synovium (magnification 400 X). A Lewis rat knee joint was sensitized with serum containing ovalbumin-specific IgE, then challenged intravenously after 24 hours with 1 mg of ovalbumin. The synovial tissue was extracted 30 minutes after antigen challeng<sup>o</sup>, and stained for mast cells with alcian blue and safranin-O. Some of the mast cells are in the process of degranulation. See Table 4.4.



(

ĩ

Figure 4.12. FITC-avidin Staining of Synovial Mast Cells in Normal Synovium (magnification 450 X). Normal synovial tissue was extracted from the knee joint of a Lewis rat. Note the brightly stained mast cells against the green background. This is a useful stain for the rapid tissue screening for mast cells.



f

Figure 4.13. <sup>99</sup>Technetium Scanning of Rat Knee Joints. A Lewis rat was sensitized with an injection of control serum into the right knee, and serum known to contain ovalbumin-specific IgE activity, into the left knee. The rat was challenged I.V. with 1 mg ovalbumin, and injected 1 hour later with 1 mCi of <sup>99</sup>Tc methylene diphosphonate. The joint scan was performed 2 hours after the radioisotope injection. There was a 2 fold higher accumulation of isotope in the sensitized (left) as opposed to the control knee (right). See Table 4.5.



Figure 4.14. Duration of Sensitization. Lewis rats (n=9) were sensitized with ovalbumin-immune serum on day 0 and challenged on the indicated days after the sensitization. The antigen-induced inflammation is expressed as a percent change in joint size +/-SEM. The sensitized joints still respond to antigen challenge 36 days following sensitization.

ł



х

Figure 4.15. The Effect of Simultaneous Collagen-II Arthritis and PSA Reactions on Joint Swelling. Lewis rats (n=6) were injected subcutaneously on day 0 with rat collagen-II. At the same time, the right knees were sensitized with serum containing ovalbumin-specific IgE. The sensitized right knee demonstrated both an increase in pre-challenge joint size and a flare-up upon antigen challenge. The increase in prechallenge joint size of the sensitized knee is significantly higher than the unsensitized knee beginning on day 7 (p<0.001). The error bars represent the SEM.



Figure 4.16. Effect of PSA Reactions on Pre-existing Collagen-II Arthritis. Lewis rats (n=6) were injected subcutaneously on day 0 with rat collagen-II. The right knees were sensitized with 50 µl of serum containing ovalbumin-specific IgE on day 13 after the injection of collagen-II. There is no statistical difference in the pre-challenge increase in joint sizes between the sensitized and the unsensitized joints (p>0.10). The error bars represent the SEM.

Alter N



Figure 4.17. Effect of Simultaneous Adjuvant Arthritis and PSA Reactions on Joint Swelling. Lewis rats (n=6) were injected subcutaneously with 100 µl of FCA on day 0. At the same time, the right knees were sensitized with 50 µl of serum containing ovalbumin-specific IgE. The sensitized right knee demonstrated both an increase in the pre-challenge joint size and a flare-up upon antigen challenge. The increase in pre-challenge joint size of the sensitized knee is significantly higher than the unsensitized knee beginning on day 14 (p<0.001). The error bars represent the SEM.

7

â



Figure 4.18. Effect of PSA Reactions on Pre-existing Adjuvant Arthritis. Lewis rats (n=6) were injected subcutaneously on day 0 with 100 µl FCA. The right knee joints were sensitized with 50 µl of serum containing ovalbumin-specific IgE on day 13 after the injection of FCA. There was no statistical difference in the pre-challenge increase in joint sizes between the sensitized and the unsensitized joints (p>0.10). The error bars represent the SEM.

\* 1912

Í

Ű.



Figure 4.19. Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Synovial Tissue from a Rat with Collagen-II Arthritis. A Lewis rat was injected subcutaneously with rat collagen-II and the synovial tissue was extracted from an unsensitized knee joint 14 days later when signs of joint swelling were visible. Note the intact mast cells.



1

Figure 4.20. Alcian Blue/Safranin-O Staining of Synovial Tissue from a Rat with Collagen-II Arthritis, Following a PSA Reaction. A Lewis rat was injected subcutaneously with rat collagen-II. After 13 days, when there were signs of joint swelling, the rat was sensitized in one knee joint with serum containing ovalbumin-specific IgE. The rat was challenged I.V. with 1 mg of ovalbumin 24 hours after sensitization. The synovial tissue was extracted 30 minutes after antigen challenge, and stained for mast cells with alcian blue and safranin-O. The mast cells are visibly in the process of degranulation.



Figure 4.21. Ankle Swelling Response Following PSA-induction in the Knee Joint. This Lewis rat was simultaneously injected subcutaneously with FCA and intraarticularly with serum containing ovalbuminspecific IgE. Two weeks later the animal was challenged with 1 mg ovalbumin. The ankle shows a 13% increase in joint size and metacarpal joints on the same side of the sensitization are also inflamed. The sensitized knee joint shows a 5% increase in joint size following challenge.

## CHAPTER 5--DISCUSSION

A number of recent reports have suggested the importance of mast cells as potential regulators of inflammatory reactions Mast cell granular contents are known to have (6,7,37). immunomodulating effects (57), and are directly proinflammatory (61,62). Mast cell mediators may also initiate and promote some of the pathologic changes seen in the rheumatoid joint, such as bone resorption (75), hyperplastic growth of the synovial layer during pannus formation (94), and synovial infiltration and activation of inflammatory cells (61,62). RA patients frequently demonstrate elevations of serum (109,110) and synovial fluid IgE concentrations. This has led to the proposal that (111)cell activation might also contribute to local mast the perpetuation of synovial inflammation, either through an allergic-type IgE-mediated reaction, or а result as of anaphylatoxins (53) or lymphokines (54) produced during an onmodel of passive synovial immune response. Α rat qoinq anaphylaxis (PSA) was designed to examine the potential role of the IgE/mast cell system in the induction or exacerbation of synovitis.

Specific IgE antibody synthesis is extensively regulated by genetic factors and further modulated by lymphokines (142). Wi'hin inbred rat populations, the age and strain of the rat, in addition to the type of antigen and adjuvant used in the immunization, are important determinants of the antigen specific IgE production (142). These variables were taken into

consideration to maximize the yield of antigen-specific IgE in test rats. The Brown Norway (BN) strain of rat was selected for the production of high titer IgE antiserum because this strain naturally produces higher levels of IgE (142), and it has been determined that strains of rats with higher IgE levels produce greater IgE responses on immunization with specific antigen (143).

The failure of some animals to generate antigen-specific IgE immunizing antigen made antigen-specific the IqG against measurements necessary to ascertain that the inoculation had been Significant IgG and IgE titers were elicited successful. following immunization with pertussis antigen and ovalbumin. In both groups, antigen-specific IgE concentrations continued to increase during the post-immunization period. At the same time, the concentration of total serum IgE actually decreased. The decrease in total IqE levels is unexpected and currently unexplained.

7

In view of the prevalence of rheumatoid factor activity in RA serum, including IgE RFs, an attempt was made to induce an IgE response against human IgG antigen. However, only a transient IgE response to human IgG was observed, insufficient to induce a PSA reaction. The difficulty in inducing anti-human IgG responses in rats might be due to some of the antigenic epitopes being recognized as auto-antigenic. This is supported by previous findings showing that there is sufficient homology between the two antibodies for the rat IgG to be immunologically identified by antisera to the human immunoglobulin (153). Thus an anti-human IgG response, once initiated, might be suppressed by the rat immune system.

In the mouse, genetic factors are important regulators of the immune response to low antigen concentrations (154). Since low antigen dosages were administered in these experiments to favor the production of predominantly IgE immunoglobulins (142), one might anticipate a similar genetic determination of immune Mouse strains that are high responders to responsiveness. ovalbumin possess the  $H-2^b$  or  $H-2^q$  genotype, whereas these genotypes are simultaneously associated with non-responsiveness to bovine-IgG (153). Since ovalbumin elicited a strong antibody response in the BN rat, this suggests that the BN strain might posses a major histocompatibility complex gene analogous to the mouse  $H-2^{b}$  or  $H-2^{q}$  genotype, and might additionally be a genetic non-responder to IgG antigen. However, this genetic typing information for the BN strain is as yet unavailable.

Since various IgE autoantibodies have been described in human RA, attempts were made to induce the PSA reaction using antigens such as those used in other experimental models of arthritis: i.e. MDP, which is capable of inducing an adjuvant form of joint inflammation (155), and collagen-II which is considered an antigen relevant to both animal and human disease. However, it has not yet been possible to induce specific IgE following immunization with these antigens. Despite its known adjuvant activities, MDP did not itself elicit any antibody

response in the immunized BN rats, possibly due to the low molecular weight of this peptide. This is in contrast to the significant anti-pertussis adjuvant response observed. The lack of an immune response to the human and rat collagen-II antigens might also reflect the possible genetic non-responsiveness of the BN rat strain for these antigens. Other investigators have indeed demonstrated that the immune response to collagen-II is genetically regulated in both rats (148) and humans (156).

The sera of rats with the highest titers of antigen-specific IgE were the most useful in the subsequent induction of PSA joint inflammatory responses. The PSA reaction involves injecting IgEcontaining serum into the knee joint of a test animal. The homocytotropic immunoglobulins become attached to the synovial tissue mast cells via the Fc portion of the heavy chains. Subsequent challenge with corresponding antigen induces a local hypersensitivity reaction, resulting in a measurable swelling of the sensitized joint.

The magnitude of the PSA-induced joint swelling was found to correlate directly with the amount of ovalbumin- and pertussisspecific IgE, as well as the ovalbumin-specific IgG levels in the sensitizing serum. While the IgG2a component of the IgG antibody fraction has not yet been established, it is a second class of rat homocytotropic antibody that may also contribute to the PSAinduced joint inflammation. The magnitude of the observed swelling was maximal 24 hours after sensitization, and decreased with an increased delay between the sensitization and challenge.

This decreased response over time might be due to some turnover of mast cell bound homocytotropic antibody. Nevertheless. the inflammation could still be induced on challenging with ovalbumin 36 days after the initial sensitization of the joint, by which point the response had decreased to 60% of maximum. This long It becomes duration of the sensitization is of great interest. possible for a joint, once sensitized, to respond to subsequent exposures to the corresponding allergen (or even cross-reactive several antigen) for up to months after the initial sensitization. This might be relevant to the repeated exacerbations of inflammation frequently observed in the human disease.

Our thesis is that the mast cell mediators are largely responsible for the microvascular changes which produce the measurable accumulation of fluid in the joint tissues. This was the histological observation of supported by mast cell degranulation in the joints undergoing an active PSA response, as well as the evidence of the joint edema using direct caliper measurments, and radioisotopic scans of the PSA knee joints. Although several attempts were made, the failure to procure sufficient synovial fluid, even from significantly inflamed joints, prevented the measurement of histamine in the PSA joint synovial fluid. This may be due to the predominant tissue edema component of the PSA inflammatior, and extremely small volumes of synovial fluid available in the joints.

Pharmacological blocking studies of the PSA response further

demonstrate that the joint swelling is a result of the PSAinduced local hypersensitivity reaction. Pretreatment with the H2 receptor blocker, cimetidine, prevented the PSA response at low doses (0.01-0.5 mg). This implies that histamine H2 receptor activation may be the predominant regulator of synovial microvascular permeability, since promethazine, a H1 blocker did not affect the response. This is in agreement with the identification of histamine H2 receptors on canine synovial blood vessels (157).

In vitro studies have shown that exogenous histamine can activate basophil surface H2 receptors and thereby inhibit further histamine release (58). Consequently, treatment of synovial mast cells with H2 blockers might effectively eliminate the negative feedback mechanism that would normally prevent excessive histamine release. Such a disruption of regulated histamine release during a PSA reaction might also contribute to the local vascular effects of histamine and account for the enhanced joint swelling produced by high cimetidine dosages. However, since mast cell activation releases a complex array of mediators, one must also consider the possible vascular effects of the other mast cell products released during the PSA reaction, which would not be affected by antihistamine drugs.

Adjuvant and collagen-II induced arthritis are the most extensively studied experimenta, models of arthritis, and they share many of the same clinical and histopathological features of the human disease (158). Despite their many similarities, the

89

-----

pattern of immune responses associated with the development of collagen-II and adjuvant arthritis models differs. Collageninduced arthritis has been shown to correlate with the levels of collagen-specific IgG produced following immunization (159), and the disease can be transferred by either lymphoid cells (150) or by collagen-immune serum (160). On the other hand, adjuvant arthritis in the rat is associated with the immuno-enhancing properties of adjuvants (including Freunds Complete Adjuvant, intact bacterial cell walls, or purified bacterial peptidoglycan such as MDP (155)). Delayed hypersensitivity is believed to play the major role in the pathogenesis of adjuvant arthritis (149).

Superimposing the PSA reaction on pre-existing joint inflammation demonstrated a similar effectiveness of the PSA reaction to exacerbate an on-going collagen-II or adjuvantinduced arthritis. This implies that local hypersensitivity reactions can augment inflammation of differing immunologic fact that collagen-II arthritis Despite the is origins. predominantly auto-antibody mediated, while adjuvant arthritis has a mainly cellular mechanism, the immunoenhancing effects of mast cell mediators appear to contribute to the existing immune response, resulting in more pronounced inflammation in both animal models.

-1

For the 28 day period of these studies, the PSA reaction did not shorten the latency time for the development of a measurable joint inflammation in either the collagen or adjuvant arthritis models. Repeated PSA reactions in a knee joint significantly

increased the magnitude of the swelling produced by the primary models of arthritis. Compared to unsensitized control joints, arthritis-induced swelling became significantly the more pronounced in the joints also undergoing PSA reactions, and significance was attained approximately 1 to 2 weeks after the administration of collagen-II or FCA, respectively. This implies that the PSA reaction can exacerbate the arthritic inflammation, predisposing the joint for a more aggressive synovitis. However. reaction did not measurably affect the severity of the PSA arthritic joint inflammation when it was first provoked 2 weeks after the arthritis induction.

By the end of the 28 day study period, the PSA inflammatory response itself was significantly greater than the initial Day-1 response in both arthritis models. This escalation of the PSA response in actively inflamed joints may be due to leakage of plasma proteins into the synovial tissue via intracellular endothelial gaps (161) enhanced by the local inflammation. Increases in local vascular permeability would increase the supply of intravenous antigen to the joints during PSA reactions, and might account for the progressive increase of the PSA response.

The occasional swelling of ankles ipsilateral to the sensitized knee joints was an unexpected observation since the ankles had not been directly sensitized. It is possible for some leakage of homocytotropic antibody to have occurred from the joint space into the circulation, and subsequently into the ankle

synovial tissue. This indirect sensitization is possible since material injected into the joint space is primarily cleared via the the effluent venous channels to the femoral vein, and less so through the lymphatics (157). This would allow some of the recirculating IgE and/or IgG2a to bind at other joints, including the ankles. Actual ankle sensitization is also implied by the observed degranulation of mast cells in some tiscue samples. However, why the ankle on the PSA side would be favored is not known. It is also possible that swelling of the PSA knee affects lymphatic flow from the ankles, and might indirectly account for this phenomenon.

In conclusion, the rat PSA model does support the initial hypersensitivity reactions proposal that local can cause arthritic-like swelling of IqE-sensitized joints, and can exacerbate or promote arthritic inflammations of other Future work on this rat PSA model should immunologic origins. include the testing of the effectiveness of other pharmacological blocking agents to inhibit the PSA response. Additional antigen challenges should be conducted to determine if the PSA response can be elicited in appropriately sensitized animals using crossreactive antigens. The joint-sensitizing serum must also be assayed to determine the concentration of antigen-specific IqG2a, the other rat homocytotropic antibody, which may contribute to the PSA-inflammation. Immunohistochemical detection of the mast cell mediators released into the synovial fluid or tissue during PSA reactions might also be attempted.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Darlington, L.G. Does food intolerance have any role in the aetiology and management of rheumatoid disease? Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>44</u>:801, 1985.
- 2. Hench, P.S., and Rosenberg, E.F. Palindromic rheumatism. Arch. Inter. Med. <u>73</u>:293, 1944.
- 3. Kahlmeter, G. Y a-t-il des formes de rheumatisme articulaire et periarticulaire d'une nature reelment allergique? Acta Med. Scandinav. <u>102</u>:432, 1939.
- 4. Crisp, A.J., Chapman, C.M., Kirkham, S.E., Schiller, A.L., and Krane, S.M. Articular mastocytosis in rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>27</u>:845, 1984.
- 5. Permin, H. A study of autoimmune allergic type I reactions in rheumatoid arthritis. Dan. Med. Bull. <u>32</u>:54, 1985.
- 6. Khan, M.M., Strober, S., and Melmon, K.L. Regulatory effects of mast cells: The role of histamine type 1 receptors in the interaction between mast cells, helper T cells and natural suppressor cells. Cell. Immunol. <u>103</u>:41, 1986.
- Austen, K.F. Homeostatis of effector systems which can also be recruited for immunologic reactions. J. Immunol. <u>121</u>:793, 1978.
- Van Boxel, J.A., and Paget, S.A. Predominantly T cell infiltrates in rheumatoid synovial membranes. N. Eng. J. Med. 293:517, 1975.
- 9. Janossy, G., Panayi, G., Duke, O., Bofill, M., Poulter, L.M., and Goldstein, G. Rheumatoid arthritis: A disease of Tlymphocyte/macrophage immunoregulation. Lancett <u>ii</u>:839, 1981.
- 10. Bankhurst, A.D., Husby, G., and Williams, R.C. Predominance of T cells in lymphocytic infiltrates of synovial tissues in rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>19</u>:555, 1976.
- 11. Smiley, J.D., Sachs, C., and Ziff, M. In vitro synthesis of immunoglobulin by rheumatoid synovial memebrane. J. Clin. Invest. <u>47</u>:264, 1968.
- Munthe, E., and Natvig, R. Immunoglobulin classes, subclasses of IgG rheumatoid factor in rheumatoid plasma cells. Clin. Exp. Immunol. <u>12</u>:55, 1972.
- Ziff, M. Relation of cellular infiltration of rheumatoid synovial membrane to its immune response. Arth. Rheum. <u>17</u>:313, 1974.

- 14. Britton, M.C., and Schur, P.M. The complement system in rheumatoid synovitis: Intracytoplasmic inclusions of immunoglobulin and complement. Arth. Rheum. <u>14</u>:87, 1971.
- 15. Stuart, J.M., Postlethwaite, A.E., Townes, A.S., and Kang, A.H. Cell mediated immunity to collagen and collagen alphachains in rheumatoid arthritis and other rheumatic diseases. Amer. J. Med. <u>69</u>:13, 1980.
- 16. Andriopoulos, N.A., Mestecky, J., Miller, E.J., and Bradley, E.L. Antibodies to native and denatured collagens in sera of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>19</u>:613, 1976.
- 17. Claque, R.B., and Moore, L.J. IgG and IgM antibodies to native type II collagen in rheumatoid arthritis in serum and synovial fluid: Evidence for the presence of collagenanticollagen immune complexes in synovial fluid. Arth. Rheum. <u>27</u>:1370, 1984.
- 18. Rowley, M., Tait, B., Mackay, I.R., Cunningham, T., and Phillips, B. Collagen antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis: Significance of antibodies to denatured collagen and their association with HLA-PP4 Arth. Rheum. 29:174, 1986.
- 19. Walker, D.J., Burn, J., Griffiths, I.D., Roberts, D.F., and Stephenson, A.M. Linkage studies of HLA and rheumatoid arthritis in multicase families. Arth. Rheum. <u>30</u>:31, 1987.
- Roitt, I. Biological significance of the Major Histocompatibility Complex: Association with Disease. <u>In</u>: Essential Immunology, Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1980.
- 21. Dobloug, J.H., Forre, O., Kass, E., Thorsby, E. HLA antigens and rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>23:</u>309, 1980.
- 22. Winchester, R.J., Winfield, J.B., Fu, S.M., Wernet, P., and Kunkel, H.G. Studies on antilymphocyte antibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Immunol. Aspects Rheum. Arth. Rheum. <u>6</u>:209, 1975.
- 23. Koopman, W.J., and Schrohenloher, R.E. Enhanced in vitro synthesis of IgM rheumatoid factor in rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>23</u>:985, 1980.
- 24. Panush, R.S., Bianco, N.E., Schur, P.H. Serum and synovial fluid IgG, IgA, and IgM antigammaglobulin. Arth. Rheum. <u>14</u>:737, 1971.

- 25. Winchester, R.J., Agnello, V., Kunkel, H.G. Gammaglobulin complexes in synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: Partial characterization and relationship to lowered complement levels. Clin. Exp. Immunol. <u>6</u>:689, 1970.
- 26. Wiik, A. Circulating immune complexes involving granulocytespecific anti-nuclear factors in Felty's syndrome and rheumatoid arthritis. Acta Path. Microbiol. Scand. Sect.C <u>83</u>:354, 1975.
- 27. Wiik, A. Joint fluid immune complexes involving granulocyte -specific anti-nuclear factors in rheumatoid arthritis. Acta Path. Microbiol. Scand. Sect.C <u>83</u>:365, 1975.
- 28. Zvaifler, N.J. Rheumatoid Synovitis: An extravascular immune complex disease. Arth. Rheum. <u>17</u>:297, 1974.
- 29. Goldie, I. The synovial microvascular derangement in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Acta Orthop. Scandinav. <u>40</u>:751, 1970.
- 30. Theofilopoulos, A.N., Burtonboy, G., LoSpalluto, J.J., and Ziff, M. IgG rheumatoid factor and low molecular weight IgM: An association with vasculitis. Arth. Rheum. <u>17</u>:272, 1974.
- 31. Fostiropoulos, G., Austen, K.F., and Bloch, K.J. Total hemolytic complement and second component of complement activity in serum and synovial fluid. Arth. Rheum. <u>8</u>:219, 1965.
- 32. Ruddy, S., and Austen, K.F. The complement system in rheumatoid synovitis I. An analysis of complement component activity in rheumatoid synovial fluids. Arch. Rheum. <u>13</u>:713, 1970.
- 33. Krane, S.M. Joint erosion in rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>17</u>:306, 1974.
- 34. Benveniste, J. Passage of immune complexes through vascular walls: Evidence for the role of an immediate hypersensitivity mechanism and its mediator, platelet activating factor. Immun. Aspects Rheum. Arth. Rheumatol. <u>6</u>:293, 1975.
- 35. Lamers, M.C. Factors influencing the development of immunecomplex disease. Allergy <u>36</u>:527, 1981.
- 36. Malone, D.G., Wahl, S.M., Tsokos, M., Cattell, H., Decker, J.L., and Wilder, R.L. Immune function in severe, active rheumatoid arthritis: A relationship between peripheral blood mononuclear cell proliferation to soluble antigens and synovial tissue immunohistologic characteristics. J. Clin. Invest. <u>74</u>:1173, 1984.

- 37. Wasserman, S.I. The mast cell and synovial inflammation. Arth. Rheum. <u>27</u>:841, 1984.
- 38. Leiferman, K.M., Gleich, G.J., Kephart, G.M., Haugen, H.S., Hisamatsu, K.I., Proud, D., Lichenstein, L.M., and Ackerman, S.J. Differences between basophils and mast cells: Failure to detect Charcot-Leyden crystal protein and eosinophil granule major basic protein in human mast cells. J. Immunol. <u>136</u>:852, 1986.
- 39. Galli, S.J. New approaches for the analysis of mast cell maturation, heterogeneity, and function. Fed. Proc. <u>46</u>:1906, 1987.
- 40. Seldin, D.C., Aldeman, S., Austen, K.F., Stevens, R.L., Hein, A., Caulfield, J.P., and Woodbury, R.G. Homology of the rat basophilic leukemia cell and the rat mucosal mast cell. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA <u>82</u>:3871, 1985.
- 41. Pearce, F.L., Ali, H., Barrett, K.E., Befus, A.D., Bienenstock, J., Brostoff, J., Ennis, M., Flint, K.C., Hudspith, B., Johnson, N.M., Leung, K.B.P., and Peachell, P.T. Functional characteristics of mucosal and connective tissue mast cells of man, the rat, and other animals. Int. Arch. Allergy appl. Immunol. <u>77</u>:274, 1985.
- 42. Befus, A.D., Bienenstock, J., and Denburg, J.A. Mast cell differentiation and heterogeneity. Immunol. Today <u>6</u>:281, 1983.
- 43. Repke, H., Rossow, N., Savoly, S., Odarjuk, J., Karawajew, L., and Gomes, J. Monoclonal antibodies against rat mast cells differentiate between subtypes. Agents Actions 20:216, 1987.
- 44. Razin, E., Stevens, R.L., Akiyama, F., Schmid, K., and Austen, K.F. Culture from mouse bone marrow of a subclass of mast cells possessing a distinct chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan with glycosaminoglycans rich in Nacetylgalactosamine-4,6-disulfate. J. Biol. Chem. <u>257</u>:7229, 1982.
- 45. Saavedra-Delgado, A.M.P., Turpin, S., and Metcalfe, D.D. Typcal and atypical mast cells of the rat gastrointestinal system: distribution and correlation with tissue histamine. Agents Actions <u>14</u>:1, 1981.
- 46. Levi-Schaffer, F., Austen, K.F., Gravallese, P.M., and Stevens, R.L. Coculture of interleukin 3-dependent mouse mast cells with fibroblasts results in a phenotypic change of the mast cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA <u>83</u>:6485, 1986.

- 47. Marsh, D.G., Bias, W.B., and Ishizaka, K. Genetic control of basal serum immunoglobulin-E level and its effect on specific reaginic sensitivity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. <u>71</u>:3588, 1974.
- 48. Center, D.M. Identification of rat mast cell-derived chemoattractant factors for lymphocytes. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. <u>71</u>:29, 1983.
- 49. Lewis, R.A., Soter, N.A., Diamond, P.T., Austen, K.F., Oates, J.A., and Roberts, L.J. II. Prostaglandin-D2 generation after activation of rat and human mast cells with anti-IgE. J. Immunol. <u>129</u>:1627, 1982.
- 50. Thomson, D.M.P. Mast cells and mediators of allergy. Med. North Amer. <u>4</u>:340, 1983.
- 51. Lewis, R.A., and Austen, K.F. Mediators of local homeostasis and inflammation by leukotrienes and other mast celldependent compounds. Nature <u>293</u>:103, 1981.
- 52. Ishizaka, T., Conrad, D.H., Schulman, E.S., Sterk, A.R., Ko, C.G.L., and Ishizaka, K. IgE-mediated triggering signals for mediator release from human mast cells and basophils. Fed. Proc. <u>43</u>:2840, 1984.
- 53. Siraganian, R.P., and Hook, W.A. Complement-induced histamine release from human basophils. II. Mechanism of the histamine release reaction. J. Immunol. <u>116</u>:639, 1976.
- 54. Thueson, D.O., Speck, L.S., Lett-Brown, M.A., and Grant J.A. Histamine releasing activity (HRA). I. Production from mitogen or antigen-stimulated human mononuclear cells. J. Immunol. <u>123</u>:626, 1979.
- 55. Lagunoff, D., and Chi, E.Y. Cell biology of mast cells and basophils. <u>In</u>: The cell biology of inflammation. Edited by L.E. Glynn, C. Houch, and G. Weissmann. Amsterdam, Elsevier/ North-Holland Biochemical press, 1980, p. 217-266.
- 56. Hokfelt, T., Kellerth, J.O., Nilsson, G., and Pernow, B. Substance-P: Localization in the central nervous system and in some primary sensory neurons. Science <u>190</u>:889, 1975.
- 57. Beer, D.J., Matloff, S.M., and Rocklin, R.E. The influence of histamine on immune and inflammatory responses. Adv. Immunol. <u>35</u>:209, 1984.
- 58. Bourne, H.R., Melmon, K.L., and Lichtenstein, L.M. Histamine augments leukocyte adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate and blocks antigenic histamine release. Science <u>173</u>:743, 1971.

- 59. Seligmann, B.E., Fletcher, M.P., and Gallin, J.I. Histamine modulation of human neutrophil oxidative metabolism, locomotion, degranulation, and membrane potential changes. J. Immunol. <u>130</u>:1902, 1983.
- 60. Plaut, M., Lichtenstein L.M., Gillespie, E., and Henney, C.S. Studies on the mechanisms of lymphocyte-mediated cytolysis. J. Jmmunol. <u>111</u>:389, 1973.
- 61. Staite, N.D., and Panayi, G.S. Prostaglandin regulation of B-lymphocyte function. Immunol. Today <u>5</u>:175, 1984.
- 62. Ninnemann, J.L. Prostaglandins in inflammation and disease. Immunol. Today <u>5</u>:173, 1984.
- 63. Mencia-Huerta, J.M., Razin, E., Ringel, E.W., Corey, E.J., Hoover, D., Austen, K.F., and Lewis, R.A. Immunologic and ionophore-induced generation of leukotriene-B4 from mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells. J. Immunol. <u>130</u>:1885, 1983.
- 64. Castor, C.W. The microscopic structure of normal human synovial tissue. Arth. Rheum. <u>3</u>:140, 1960.
- 65. Smyth, C.J., and Gum, O.B. Mast cells in connective tissue diseases. Arth. Rheum. <u>1</u>:178, 1958.
- 66. Helder, A.W., Feltkamp-Vroom, T.M., and Nienhuis, R.L.F. Electron and light microscopical observations and serological findings in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>32</u>:515, 1973.
- 67. Schumacher, H.R. Jr. Ultrastructure of the synovial membrane. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci. <u>5</u>:489, 1975.
- 68. Fritz, P., Muller, J., Reiser, H., Saal, J.G., Hadam, M., Rautenstrauch, H. Distribution of mast cells in human synovial tissue of patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Z. Rheumatol. <u>43</u>:294, 1984.
- 69. Gryfe, A., Sanders, P.M., and Gardner, D.L. The mast cell in early rat adjuvant arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>30</u>:24, 1971.
- 70. Gruber, B., Poznansky, M., Boss, E., Partin, J., Gorevic, P., and Kaplin, A.P. Characterization and functional studies of rheumatoid synovial mast cells. Arth. Rheum. <u>29</u>:944, 1984.
- 71. Malone, D.G., Wilder, R.L., Saavedra-Delgado, A.M., and Metcalfe, D.D. Mast cell numbers in rheumatoid synovial tissues. Arth Rheum <u>30</u>:130, 1987.
- 72. Bromley, M., and Wooley, D.E., Histopathology of the rheumatoid lesion. Arth. Rheum. <u>27</u>: 857, 1984.

· . .
- 73. Godfrey, H.P., Ilardi, C., Engber, W., and Graziano, F.M. Quantitation of human synovial mast cells in rheumatoid arthritis and other rheumatic diseases. Arth. Rheum. <u>27</u>:852, 1984.
- 74. Graziano, F.M., Ilardi, C., Godfrey, H., and Engber, W. The occurrence of mast cells in the synovium of patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>26 (supl.4)</u>:s52, 1983.
- 75. Bromley, M., Fisher, W.D., and Wooley, D.E. Mast cells at the site of cartilage erosion in the rheumatoid joint. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>43</u>:76, 1984.
- 76. Severson, A. Mast cells in areas of experimental bone resorption and remodelling. Br. J. Exp. Path. <u>50</u>:17, 1969.
- 77. Frame, B., and Nixon, R.K. Bone marrow mast cells in osteoporosis of aging. New Eng. J. Med. <u>279</u>:626, 1968.
- 78. Freemont, A.J., and Denton, J. Disease distribution of synovial mast cells and cytophagocytic mononuclear cells in inflammatory arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>44</u>:312, 1985.
- 79. Malone, D.G., Irani, A.M., Schwartz, L.B., Barrett, K.E., and Metcalfe, D.D. Mast cell numbers and histamine levels in synovial fluids from patients with diverse arthritides. Arth. Rheum. <u>29</u>:956, 1986.
- 80. Kaliner, M., and Lemanske, R. Inflammatory responses to mast cell granules. Fed. Proc. <u>43</u>:2846, 1984.
- 81. Welsh, R.A., and Geer, J.C. Phagocytosis of mast cell granules by the eosinophilic leukocyte in the rat. Am. J. Pathol. <u>35</u>:103, 1958.
- 82. Pillarisetti, V., Rao, S., Friedman, M.M., Atkins, F.M., and Metcalfe, D.D. Phagocytosis of mast cell granules by cultured fibroblasts. J. Immunol. <u>130</u>:341, 1983.
- 83. Cranerus, G., and Kral, J.G. Possible role of histamine in rheumatoid arthritis. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. <u>10</u>:14, 1980. (abstract)
- 84. Permin, H., Skov, P.S., Norn, S., Klysner, G.R., Andersen, V., Wiik, A., Manthorpe, R., Nielsen, H., and Petersen, J. Possible role of histamine in rheumatoid arthritis. Allergy <u>36</u>:435, 1981.
- 85. Dabrowski, R., Maslinski, Cz., and Olczak, A. The role of histamine in wound healing. I. The effect of high doses of histamine on collagen and glycosaminoglycan content in wounds. Agents Actions <u>7</u>:219, 1977.

- 86. Wojtecka-Lukasik, E., and Maslinski, S. Histamine, 5hydroxytryptamine and compound 48/80 activate PMN-leukocyte collagenase of the rat. Agents Actions <u>14</u>:451, 1984.
- 87. White, B.N., Shetlar, M.R., and Schilling, J.A. The glycosaminoglycans and their relationship to healing in wounds. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. <u>94</u>:297, 1961.
- 88. Boucek, R.K., and Nobel, N.L. Histamine, norepinephrine and bradykinin stimulators of fibroblast growth and modification of serotonin response. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. <u>144</u>:929, 1973.
- 89. Claman, H.N. Mast cells, T cells and abnormal fibrosis. Immunol. Today <u>6</u>:192, 1985.
- 90. Taylor, D.J., Yoffe, R., Brown, D.M., and Woolley, D.E. Histamine H2 receptors on chondrocytes derived from human, canine and bovine articular cartilage. Biochem. J. <u>225</u>:315, 1985.
- 91. Houston, J.P., Mcguire, M.K.B., Meats, J.E., Ebsworth, N.M., Russell, R.G.G., Crawford, A., and MacNeil, S. Adenylate cyclase of human articular chondrocytes. Biochem. J. 208:35, 1982.
- 92. Robinson, D.R., and Levine, L. <u>In</u>: Prostaglandin synthetase inhibitors. Edited by Robinson, H.J., and Vane, J.R. p.223-228, Raven Press, N.Y., 1974.
- 93. Glimelius, B., Busch, C., and Hook, M. Binding of heparin to the surface of cultured human endothelial cells. Thrombosis Res. <u>12</u>:773, 1978.
- 94. Kessler, D.A., Langer, R.S., Pless, N.A., and Folkman, J. Mast ceils and tumor angiogenesis. Int. J. Cancer <u>18</u>:703, 1976.
- 95. Sakamoto, S., Sakamoto, M., Goldhaber, P., and Glimcher, M.J. Studies on the interaction between heparin and mouse bone collagenase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta <u>385</u>:41, 1975.
- 96. Birkedal-Hansen, H., Cobb, C.M., Taylor, R.E., and Fullmer, H.M. Activation of fibroblast procollagenase by mast cell proteases. Biochim. Biophys. Acta <u>438</u>:273, 1976.
- 97. Weissmann, G. Lysosomal mechanisms of tissue injury in arthritis. New Eng. J. Med. <u>286</u>:141, 1972.
- 98. Barrett, A.J. The possible role of neutrophil proteinases in damage to articular cartilage. Agents Actions <u>8</u>:11, 1978.

- 99. Bartholomew, J.S., Lowthey, D.A., and Handley, C.J. Changes in proteoglycan biosynthesis following leukocyte elastase treatment of bovine articular cartilage. Arth. Rheum. 27:905, 1984.
- 100. Wood, G.C., Pryce-Jones, R.H., and White, D.D. Chondromucoprotein-degrading neutral protease activity in rheumatoid synovial fluid. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>30</u>:73, 1971.
- 101. Fessel, J.M., and Chrisman, O.D. Enzymatic degradation of chondromucoprotein by cell-free extracts of human cartilage. Arth. Rheum. <u>7</u>:398, 1964.
- 102. Schwartz, L.B., Kawahara, M.S., Hugli, T.E., Vik, D., Fearon, D.T., and Austen, K.F. Generation of C3a anaphylatoxin from human C3 by human mast cell tryptase. J. Immunol. <u>130</u>:1891, 1982.
- 103. Schwartz, L.B., Lewis, R.A., and Austen, K.F. Tryptase from human mast cells: purification and characterization. J. Biol. Chem. <u>256</u>:11939, 1981.
- 104. Wooley, D.E., Crossley, M.J., and Evanson, J.M. Collagenase at sites of cartilage erosion in the rheumatoid joint. Arth. Rheum. <u>20</u>:1231, 1977.
- 105. Wooley, D.E., Brinckerhoff, C.E., Mainardi, C.L., Vater, C.A., Evanson, J.M., and Harris, E.D. Jr. Collagenase production by rheumatoid synovial cells: morphological and immunohistochemical studies of the dendritic cell. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>38</u>:262, 1979.
- 106. Wooley, D.E., Glanville, R.W., Crossley, M.J., and Evanson, J.M. Purification of rheumatoid synovial collagenase and its action on soluble and insoluble collagen. Eur. J. Biochem. <u>54</u>:611, 1975.
- 107. Harris, E.D. Jr., Vater, C.A., and Mainardi, C.L. Cellular control of collagen breakdown in rheumatoid arthritis. Agents Actions <u>8</u>:36, 1978.
- 108. Koopman, W.J., Schrohenloher, R.E., Crago, S.S., Spalding D.M., and Mestecky, J. IgA rheumatoid factor synthesis by dissociated synovial cells. Arth. Rheum. <u>28</u>:1219, 1985.
- 109. Grennan, D.M., and Palmer, D.G. Serum IgE concentrations in rheumatoid arthritis: lack of correlation with gold toxicity. Br. Med. J. <u>ii</u>:1477, 1979.
- 110. Hunder, G.G., and Gleich, G.J. Immunoglobulin-E levels in rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>14</u>:389, 1971.

- 111. Hunder, G.G., and Gleich, G.J. Immunoglobulin-E levels in serum and synovial fluid in rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>17</u>:955, 1974.
- 112. O'Driscoll, B.R.C., Milburn, H.J., Kemeny, D.M., Cochrane, G.M., and Panayi, G.S. Atopy and rheumatoid arthritis. Clin. Allergy <u>15</u>:547, 1985.
- 113. Laurence, J.S. Prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>20</u>:11, 1961.
- 114. Paganelli, R., Levinsky, R.J., Brostoff, J., and Wraith, D.G. Immune complexes containing food proteins in normal and atopic subjects after oral challenge and effect of sodium chromoglycate on antigen absorption. Lancett <u>i</u>:1270, 1979.
- 115. Bjarnason, I., So, A., Levi, A.J., Peters, T.J., Williams, P., Zanelli, G.D., Gumpel, J.M., and Ansell, B. Intestinal permeability and inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis: effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Lancet <u>ii</u>:1171, 1984.
- 116. Parke, A.C., and Hughes, G.R.V. Rheumatoid arthritis and food: a case study. Br. Med. J. <u>282</u>:2027, 1981.
- 117. Williams, R. Rheumatoid arthritis and food: a case study. Br. Med. J. <u>283</u>:563, 1981.
- 118. Panush, R.S., Carter, R.L., Katz, P., Kowsari, B., Longley, S., and Finnie, S. Diet therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>26</u>:462, 1983.
- 119. Panush, R.S., Stroud, R.M, and Webster, E.M. Food-induced (allergic) arthritis. Arth. Rheum. <u>29</u>:220, 1986.
- 120. Brostoff, J., Carini, C., and Wraith, D.G. Immunological evidence for IgE complexes following food challenge in atopics. Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. <u>66 (suppl.1)</u>:87, 1981.
- 121. Brostoff, J., Carini, C., Wraith, D.G., and Johns, P. Production of IgE complexes by allergen challenge in atopic patients and effects of sodium chromoglycate. Lancet <u>i</u>:1268, 1979.
- 122. Malinow, M.R., Bardanna, E.J., Pirofsky, B., Craig, S., and McLaughlin, P. Systemic lupus erythematosus-like syndrome induced in monkeys fed alfalfa sprouts: role of a nonprotein amino acid. Science <u>216</u>:415, 1982.

- 123. Hanglow, A.C., Welsh, C.J.R., Conn, P., Coombs, R.R.A. Early rheumatoid-like lesions in rabbits drinking cows' milk. II. Antibody response to bovine serum proteins. Int. Arch. Allergy appl. Immunol. <u>78</u>:152, 1985.
- 124. Broder, I., Baumal, R., Gordon, D., and Bell, D. Histaminereleasing activity of rheumatoid and non-rheumatoid serum and synovial fluid. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. <u>168</u>:126, 1969.
- 125. Zuraw, B.L., O'Hair, C.H., Vaughan, J.H., and Mathison, D.A. Immunoglobulin E-rheumatoid factor in the serum of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, asthma, and other diseases. J.Clin. Invest. <u>68</u>:1610, 1981.
- 126. Permin, H., Wiik, A., and Djurup, R. Phagocytosis by normal polymorphonuclear leukocytes of immune complexes from serum of patients with Felty's Syndrome and rheumatoid arthritis with special reference to IgE immune complexes. Acta Path. Microbiol. Immunol. Scand. Section C. <u>92</u>:37, 1984.
- 127. Meretey, K., Falus, A., Erhardt, C.C., and Maini, R.N. IgE and IgE rheumatoid factors in circulating immune complexes in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>41</u>:405, 1982.
- 128. Meretey, K., Falus, A., Bohm, U., Permin, H., and Wiik, A. IgE class immune complexes in Felty's Syndrome: characterisation of antibody activities in isolated complexes. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>43</u>:246, 1984.
- 129. Mizushima, Y., Hoshi, K., and Shoji, Y. IgE rheumatoid factor in a case of rheumatoid arthritis with pleuritis. J. Rheumatol. <u>8</u>:299, 1981.
- 130. Mizushima, Y., Shoji, Y., Hoshi, K., and Kiyokawa, S. Detection and clinical significance of IgE rheumatoid factor. J. Rheumatol. <u>11</u>:22, 1984.
- 131. Permin, H., Egeskjold, E.M. IgE anti-IgG antibodies in patients with juvenile and adult rheumatoid arthritis including Felty's Syndrome. Allergy <u>37</u>:421, 1982.
- 132. de Clerck, L.S., Westedt, M.L., Cats, A., Vermeer, B.J., Weltevreden, E.F., Bridts, C.H., and Stevens, W.J. IgE deposition in normal skin of patients with rheumatoid arthritis in relation to clinical and laboratory findings. Ann. Rheum. Dis. <u>44</u>:772, 1985.
- 133. Permin, H., Skov, P.S., Norn, S., and Juhl, F. Basophil histamine release by RNA, DNA, and aggregated IgG in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Allergy <u>33</u>:15, 1978.

- 134. Permin, H., Skov, P.S., and Norn, S. Basophil histamine release induced by leukocyte nuclei in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Allergy <u>38</u>:273, 1983.
- 135. Camussi, G., Tetta, C., and Benveniste, J. Detection of basophil sensitization by IgE antibodies to nuclear antigens in connective tissue diseases. Int. Arch. Allergy appl. Immunol. <u>69</u>:358, 1982.
- 136. Permin, H., and Wiik, A. The prevalence of IgE antinuclear antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Acta Path. Microbiol. Scand. Sect. C. <u>86</u>:245, 1978.
- 137. Miyawaki, S., and Ritchie, R.F. Heterogeneity of antinucleolar antibody and IgE antinuclear antibody in patients with systemic rheumatic diseases. J. Immunol. <u>113</u>:1346, 1974.
- 138. Williams, R.C. Jr., Griffiths, R.W., Emmons, J.D., and Field, R.C. Naturally occurring human antiglobulins with specificity for immunoglobulin-E. J. Clin. Invest. <u>51</u>:955, 1972.
- 139. Magnusson, C.G.M., and Vaerman, J.P. Autoantibodies of the IgM class against human myeloma protein IgE (DES). I. Occurence. Int. Archs Allergy Appl. Immunol. <u>79</u>:149, 1986.
- 140. Iganas, M., Johansson, S.G.O., and Bennich, H. Anti-IgE antibodies in human serum: occurrence and specificity. Int. Archs Allergy appl. Immunol. <u>65</u>:51, 1981.
- 141. Magnusson, C.G.M., and Vaerman, J.P. Autcantibodies of the IgM class against a human myeloma protein (DES). II. Specificity. Int. Archs Allergy appl. Immunol. <u>79</u>:157, 1986.
- 142. Bazin, H., and Pauwels, R. IgE and IgG2a isotypes in the rat. Prog. Allergy <u>32</u>:52, 1982.
- 143. Pauwels, R., Bazin, H., Platteau, B., and Van Der Straeten, M. Relation between total serum IgE levels and IgE antibody production in rats. Int. Archs Allergy appl. Immunol. <u>58</u>:351, 1979.
- 144. Voller, A., Bidwell, D.E., and Bartlett, A. <u>In</u>: The Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA), Dynatech Laboratories Inc., 1979.
- 145. Bazin, H., Xherdebise, L.M., Burtonboy, G., Lebacq, A.M., DeClercq, L., and Cormont, F. Rat monoclonal antibodies. I. Rapid purification from in vitro culture supernatants. J. Immunol. Methods <u>66</u>:261, 1984.

- 146. Bazin, H., Beckers, A., Urbain-Vansanten, G., Pauwels, R., Bruyns, C., Tilkin, A.F., Platteau, B., and Urbain, J. Transplantable IgD immunoglobulin-secreting tumors in the rat. J. Immunol. 121:2077, 1978.
- 147. Fritsche, R., and Spiegelberg, H.L. Fc receptors for IgE on normal rat lymphocytes. J. Immunol. <u>121</u>:471, 1978.
- 148. Griffiths, M.M., Eichwald, E.J., Martin, J.H., Smith, C.B., and DeWitt, C.W. Immunogenetic control of experimental type II collagen-induced arthritis I. Susceptibility and resistance among inbred strains of rats. Arth. Rheum. <u>24</u>:781, 1981.
- 149. Pearson, C.M., and Wood, F. Passive transfer of adjuvant arthritis by lymph node or spleen cells. J. Exp. Med. <u>120</u>:547, 1964.
- 150. Trentham, D.E., Dynesius, R.A., and David, J.R. Passive transfer by cells of type II collagen-induced arthritis in rats. J. Clin. Invest. <u>68</u>:359, 1978.
- 151. Luna, L.G. <u>In</u>: Manual of Histologic Staining Methods of the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, 3rd edition, McGraw Hill Book Company, N.Y., 1968.
- 152. Tharp, M.D., Seelig, L.L. Jr., Tigelaar, R.E., and Bergstresser, P.R. Conjugated avidin binds to mast cell granules. J. Histochem. Cytochem. <u>33</u>:27, 1985.
- 153. Neoh, S.H., Jahoda, D.M., and Rowe, D.S. Immunoglobulin classes in mammalian species identified by cross reactivity with antisera to human immunoglobulin. Immunochem. <u>10</u>:805, 1973.
- 154. Vaz, N.M., Vaz, E.M., and Levine, B.B. Relationship between histocompatibility (H-2) genotype and immune responsiveness to low doses of ovalbumin in the mouse. J. Immunol. <u>108</u>:1572, 1970.
- 155. Chang, Y.H., Pearson, C.M., and Chedid, L. Adjuvant polyarthritis. V. Induction by N-acetyl-muramyl-L-analyl-Disoglutamine, the smallest peptide subunit of bacterial peptidoglycan. J. Exp. Med. <u>153</u>:1021, 1981.
- 156. Rowley, M., Tait, B., Mackay, I.R., Cunningham, T., and Phillips, B. Collagen antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis: Significance of antibodies to denatured collagen and their association with HLA-DR4 Arth. Rheum. <u>29</u>:174, 1986.
- 157. Grennan, D.M., Rooney, P.J., St. Onge, R.A., Zeitlin, I.J., and Dick, W.C. Histamine receptors in the synovial microcirculation. Europ. J. Clin. Invest. <u>5</u>:75, 1975.

- 158. Chang, Y.H., and Iizuka, Y. Adjuvant polyarthritis. VII. Differences in immunopathogenesis between type II collagen arthritis and adjuvant arthritis. Agents Actions <u>15</u>:529, 1984.
- 159. Stuart, J.M., Cremer, M.A., Townes, A.S., and Kang, A.H. Type II collagen-induced arthritis in rats: Passive transfer with serum and evidence that IgG anticollagen antibodies can cause arthritis. J. Exp. Med. <u>155</u>:1, 1982.
- 160. Stuart, J.M., Tomoda, K., Yoo, T.J., Townes, A.S., and Kang, A.H. Serum transfer of collagen induced arthritis. II. Identification and localization of autoantibody to type II collagen in donor and recipient rats. Arth. Rheum. <u>26</u>:1237, 1983.
- 161. Kushner, I. and Somerville, J.A. Permeability of human synovial membrane to plasma proteins. Relationship to molecular size and inflammation. Arth. Rheum. <u>14</u>:560, 1971.
- 162. Wallis, W.J., Simkin, P.A., and Nelp, W.B. Protein traffic in human synovial effusions. Arth. Rheum. <u>30</u>:57, 1987.